

The Madhya Pradesh Industrial Relations Act, 1960

Act 27 of 1960

Keyword(s):

Arbitration Proceeding, Arbitrator, Association of Employers, Award, Change, Closure, Conciliation Proceeding, Conciliator, Court of Enquiry, Employee, Employer, Illegal Change, Industrial Court, Industrial Dispute, Industry, Labour Officer, Local Area, Representative of Employees, Representative Union, Settlement, Standing Orders, Stoppage, Strike, Undertaking, Union, Wages

DISCLAIMER: This document is being furnished to you for your information by PRS Legislative Research (PRS). The contents of this document have been obtained from sources PRS believes to be reliable. These contents have not been independently verified, and PRS makes no representation or warranty as to the accuracy, completeness or correctness. In some cases the Principal Act and/or Amendment Act may not be available. Principal Acts may or may not include subsequent amendments. For authoritative text, please contact the relevant state department concerned or refer to the latest government publication or the gazette notification. Any person using this material should take their own professional and legal advice before acting on any information contained in this document. PRS or any persons connected with it do not accept any liability arising from the use of this document. PRS or any persons connected with it shall not be in any way responsible for any loss, damage, or distress to any person on account of any action taken or not taken on the basis of this document.

MADHYA PRADESH ACT

No. 27 of 1960

THE MADHYA PRADESH INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS, ACT, 1960

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Sect | ions | Page: |
|------|---|-------------|
| | CHAPTER I | |
| | PRELIMINARY | |
| 1. | Short title, extent and commencement. | 37 9 |
| 2. | Definitions. | 379 |
| | CHAPTER II | |
| | Authorities to be Constituted or Appointed Under this A | ct |
| 3. | Commissioner of Labour. | 383 |
| 4. | Conciliator. | 383 |
| 5. | Appointment of Registrar and Assistant Registrar. | 383 |
| 6. | Labour Officers and Deputy Labour Officers. | 384 |
| 7. | Powers of supervision of Commissioner of Labour. | 384 |
| 8. | Labour Courts. | 384 |
| 8-4 | A. Appointment of Additional Presiding Officers. | . 84 |
| 9. | Industrial Court | 385 |
| 10. | [* * * *] | 386 |
| 11. | Board of Arbitration. | 386 |
| 12. | Finality of order constituting Labour Court, Industrial Court or Board. | 386 |
| : | CHAPTER III | |
| R | ecognition of Representative Unions and Associations of Em | ployer |
| 13. | Application for recognition as a Representative Union. | 386 |
| 14. | Conditions of recognition. | 387 |
| 15. | Register of Representative Unions. | 387 |
| 16. | Cancellation of recognition. | 387 |
| 17. | Recognition of another union in place of existing Representative Union. | 388 |
| 18. | Application for re-recognition. | 389 |
| 19. | Dismissal of certain applications for want of prosecution. | 389 |
| 20. | Liability of union or members not relieved by cancellation. | 389 |
| 91 | Daniadical naturns to be submitted to Desigtron | 389 |

| Section | ons | Page |
|---------|---|------|
| 22. | Appeal to Industrial Court from order of Registrar can- celling recognition. | 389 |
| 23. | Legal aid to approved unions at Government expenses in important proceedings. | 390 |
| 24. | Recognition of combination of employers as association of employers. | 390 |
| | CHAPTER IV | |
| * | Representatives of Employers and Employees and Appearance on Their Behalf | |
| 25. | Appearance on behalf of employers. | 390 |
| 26. | Appearance on behalf of employees. | 390 |
| 27. | Representation of employees. | 391 |
| 28. | Persons who may appear in proceeding. | 391 |
| 29. | Appearance by legal practitioner. | 391 |
| | CHAPTER V | |
| | Powers and Duties of Labour Officer | |
| 30. | Powers and duties of Labour Officer. | 391 |
| | CHAPTER VI | |
| | Changes | |
| 31. | Notice of change. | 392 |
| 32. | Notice of change when to be deemed general notice. | 393 |
| 33. | Agreements. | 393 |
| 34. | Illegal change. | 393 |
| 35. | Employer to make change, etc., within certain time. | 394 |
| | CHAPTER VII | |
| | Joint Consultation | • |
| 36. | Constitution of joint Committees. | 394 |
| 37. | Duties of the Joint Committees. | 394 |
| 38. | Procedure of Joint Committee. | 394 |
| | CHAPTED TOWN | . 5. |
| ÷ | CHAPTER VIII | |
| 1. | Conciliation Proceedings | |
| 39. | Report of dispute. | 394 |
| 40. | Commencement of conciliation proceedings. | 395 |
| 41. | Conciliation proceeding. | 395 |

| Sectio | ons | Page |
|--------------|--|--------------|
| 42. | Power of Chief Conciliator to intervene. | 395 |
| 43. | Settlement and report. | 395 |
| 44. | Procedure and powers of conciliator. | 396 |
| 45. | Time limit for conciliation proceedings. | 396 |
| 46. | Completion of conciliation proceeding. | 397 |
| 47. | Conciliation proceedings not to be commenced or continued in certain cases. | 397 |
| 48. | Conciliation proceeding discentinued deemed to be completed. | 397 |
| | CHAPTER IX | |
| | Arbitration | . , |
| 49. | Submission. | 397 |
| 50. | Submission when revocable. | 3 9 8 |
| 51. | Reference of disputes to Labour Court, Industrial Court or Board. | 598 598 |
| 52. | Reference to arbitration by unions. | 398 |
| 52-7 | A. Power of State Government to include other undertakings in reference. | 399 |
| 53. | Bar of application of Arbitration Act of 1940. | 399 |
| 5 4 . | Procedure of arbitration proceeding. | 399 |
| 55. | Arbitration to be concluded expeditiously. | 39 9 |
| 56. | Award by arbitration, | 399 |
| 57. | Chairman to decide in case of disagreement. | 399 |
| 58. | Awards. | 399 |
| 59. | Commencement of award. | 400 |
| 60. | Award on whom binding. | 400 |
| | CHAPTER X | |
| | | |
| | Powers And Duties of Labour Courts, Industrial Court of Board of Arbitration And Certain Other Matters | r |
| 61. | Powers of Labour Court. | 400 |
| 62. | Commencement of proceedings. | 401 |
| 63. | Cognizance of offence. | 401 |
| 64. | Power of Labour Court and Industrial Court in respect of criminal cases. | 402 |
| 64-/ | Saving of inherent powers of Industrial Court and Labour | 402 |

| Secti | ons | Page |
|--------------|---|------|
| 65. | Appeal | 402 |
| 66. | [* * * *] | 402 |
| 67. | Powers of superintendence of Industrial Court. | 402 |
| 68. | Duties of Industrial Court. | 403 |
| 69. | Cancellation of recognition of unions. | 403 |
| 70. | Reference on point of law or interpretation of Act and rules. | 403 |
| 71. | Review. | 403 |
| 72. | Procedure before a Labour Court, the Industrial Court, or a Board. | 403 |
| 73. | Powers of authority to summon witnesses, etc. | 403 |
| 74. | Appearance of officers of Government in any proceeding. | 404 |
| 75. | Costs. | 404 |
| 76. | Proceedings before a Labour Court, etc., to be judicial proceeding. | 404 |
| 77. | Parties on whom orders of Board., etc, binding. | 404 |
| 78. | Finality of decisions. | 404 |
| 78- <i>A</i> | A. Execution of award, etc. by Labour Court or the Industrial Court. | 404 |
| 78-1 | B. Time limit for disposal of cases by Labour Court, etc. | 404 |
| ٠. | CHAPTER XI | |
| | Court of Enquiry | |
| 79. | Courts of Enquiry-Constitution, powers and duties of. | 405 |
| | CHAPTER XII | |
| | Illegal Strikes and Lock-outs | |
| 80. | Illegal strikes and lock-outs. | 405 |
| 81. | Closure or stoppage of work in certain circumstances illegal. | 406 |
| 82. | Reference to Industrial Court for declaration whether strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage is illegal. | 406 |
| e sy | CHAPTER XIII | |
| 1 | Protection of Employees | |
| 83. | Employer not to dismiss, reduce or punish an employee. | 406 |
| 84. | Protection to employees in certain cases. | 407 |
| 85. | Power of Court to order reinstatement, etc. | 407 |

| Sect | ions | Page |
|-------|--|---------|
| | CHAPTER XIV | 15 |
| | | |
| | Penalties | |
| 86 | 6. Penalty for wrongful dismissal, etc., of an employee. | 407 |
| 87 | The state of the s | 408 |
| 88 | areas sommonous megan strike of in-egan stopps | age.408 |
| 89 | Penalty for instigating etc., illegal strikes, lock-outs, closure or stoppage. | 408 |
| 90 | Penalty for disclosing confidential information. | 408 |
| 91 | Penalty for illegal change. | 408 |
| 92 | Penalty for obstructing persons from carrying out duties. | 409 |
| 93. | Penalties for offences not provided for elsewhere. | 409 |
| | CHAPTER XV | |
| | Record of Industrial Conditions | |
| 94. | Record of industrial matters, etc. | 409 |
| 95, | Inquiry for verification of records. | 409 |
| | CHAPTER XVI | |
| | Miscellaneous | |
| 96. | Amendment of Schedules. | 409 |
| 96-2 | A. Power to transfer proceedings. | 410 |
| 96-1 | • | 410 |
| 97. | Agreements, etc., on whom binding. | 410 |
| .98. | Order, decision or award to be in terms of agreement bet- | 410 |
| | ween employer and Representative Union. | |
| 99. | Agreements, etc., when to cease to have effect. | 410 |
| 100. | Modification of award. | 411 |
| 101. | Grant of copies of agreements, etc. | 411 |
| 102. | Liability of the executive of a Union. | 412 |
| 103. | Certain officers to be public servants. | 412 |
| 104. | Contempt of Board, Industrial Court, and Labour Court relating to omission to produce documents, etc. | 412 |
| 105. | Other kinds of contempts of Board, Industrial Court and Labour Court. | 412 |
| 106. | Power of Industrial Court, etc., to decide all matters. | 413 |
| 107. | Power of a Board, Industrial Court, etc., to pass interim orders. | 413 |
| 107-4 | A. Power of Labour Court and Industrial Court to give appropriate relief in case of discharge or dismissal of employee. | 413 |
| 108. | Recovery of amount due under the Act. | 413 |
| 109. | Protection of action taken under the Act. | 413 |
| 10. | Saving of certain provisions of the Industrial Disputes Act. | 413 |
| 11. | Rules. | 414 |
| | Repeal and savings. | 415 |
| | SCHEDULE I | 416 |
| : | SCHEDULE II | 416 |
| ` ; | SCHEDULE II-A | 417 |
| 1 1 | SCHEDULE III | 418 |

MADHYA PRADESH ACT

(No. 27 of 1960)1

THE MADHYA PRADESH INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS ACT, 1960

(Received the assent of the President on the 17th November, 1966; assent first published in the Madhya Pradesh Gazette, Extraordinary, on the 31st December 1960.)

An Act to regulate the relations of employers and employees in certain matters, to make provisions for settlement of industrial disputes and to previde for certain other matters connected therewith.

Re it enacted by the Madhya Pradesh Legislature in the Fleventh Year of the Republic of India as follows:—

CHAPTER I Preliminary

1. (1) This Act may be called the Madhya Pradesh Industrial Relations Act, 1960.

Short title, extent and commensusoment.

- (2) It extends to the whole of Madhya Pradesh.
- (3) This section and section 112 shall come into force at once and the State Government may, by notification, bring all or any of the remaining provisions of this Act into force in respect of—
 - (a) any or all industries; or
 - (b) undertakings in any industry wherein the number of employees, on any day, during twelve months preceding or on the date of the notification or on any day thereafter, was or is more than such number as may be specified in such notification;

on such date as may be specified therein.

2. In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,-

Definitions.

- [(1) "approved list" and "approved unior" shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Indian Trade Unions Act, 1926 (XVI of 1926), as in force in Madhya Pradesh;]²
 - (2) "arbitration proceeding" means-
 - (i) any proceeding under this Act before an arbitrator; or
 - (ii) any proceeding in arbitration before a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board;
- (3) "arbirator" means an arbtrator to whom a dispute is referred for arbitration under this Act and includes an umpire:
- (4) "association of employers" means any combination of employers recognised by the State Government under section 24;
- (5) "award" means any interim, final or supplementary determination in an arbitration proceeding of any industrial dispute or of any question relating thereto;

^{1.} For Statement of Objects and Reasons (in English) see "Madhya Pradesh Gazette" extraordinary, dated the 24th April, 1959 and (in Hindi) 4th September, 1959, pages, 199-201. For proceedings in Assembly see Madhya Pradesh Vidhan Sabha Proceedings, 1959, VOI.VI, No. 10, pages 971-981, 982-1004, No. 11 pages 1099-1128, No. 12, pages 1131-1179, 1960 Vol. VII No. 9, pages 689, No.14, pages 1159-1176, No. 15, pages 1221-1264, No. 16, pages 1309-1326, No. 17, pages 1383-1409, and No. 18, pages 1478-1482.

^{2.} Ins. by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S.2.

- "Board" means a Board of Arbitration constituted under section 11;
- "change" means an alteration in an industrial matter;
- "closure" means the closing of any place or part of a place of (8)employment or the total or partial suspension of work by an employer or the total or partial refusal by an employer to continue to employ persons employed by him whether such closing, suspension or refual is or is not in consequence of an industrial dispute;
- (9) "Commissioner of Labour" means the Commissioner of Labour appointed under sub-section (1) of section 3;
- (10) "Conciliation proceeding" means any proceeding held by a Conciliator under this Act:
- "Conciliator," means any conciliator appointed under section 4 (11)and includes the Chief Conciliator;
 - (12) "Court of Enquiry" means a Court constituted under section 79;
- , 'Employee' means any person employed in any industry to do any skilled, unskilled, manual, supervisory, technical or clerical hire or reward, whether the terms of employment be express or implied, and includes -
 - (a) a person employed by a contractor to do any work for him in the execution of a contract with an employer within the meaning of sub-clause (e) of clause 14; and
 - (b) an apprentice other than an apprentice under sub-clause (v); but does not include any person-
 - (i) who is subject to the Army Act, 1950 (XLVI of 1950), or the Air Force Act, 1950 (XLV of 1950), or Navy Discipline Act, 1957 (62 of 1957); or
 - (ii) who is employed in the Police Service or as an Officer or other employee of a prison; or
 - (iii) who is employed mainly in a managerial capacity; or
 - [(iv) who being employed in a supervisory capacity draws wages exceeding one thousand and six hundred rupees per mensem; or 1
 - (v) who is a craftsman or an apprentice working under a scheme approved by the State Government on the condition that such craftsman or apprentice shall not be deemed to be an employee under this Act;

Explanation—An employee who has been dismissed, discharged or retrenched from employment or whose employment has been otherwise terminated shall, in respect of matters relating to such dismissal, discharge, retrenchement or termination, be deemed to be an employee for the purposes of this Act;

"employer" includes-

(a) an association or a group of employers;(b) any agent of an employer;

where an industry is conducted or carried on by a department of the Central or the State Government, the authority prescribed in that behalf, and where no such authority has been prescribed, the head of the department;

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.2(i).

- (d) where an industry is conducted or carried on by or on behalf of a local authority, the Chief Executive Officer of the authority;
- (e) where the owner of any undertaking in the course of or for the purpose of conducting the undertaking contracts with any person for the execution by or under the contractor of the whole or any part of any work which is ordinarily part of the undertaking, the owner of the undertaking;
- (15) "illegal change" means an illegal change within the meaning of section 34;
 - (16) 'Industrial Court' means the Court constituted under section 9;
- (17) "industrial dispute" means any dispute or difference between an employer and employee or between employers and employees or between employees and employees and which is connected with any industrial matter;
- (18) "industrial matter" means any matter relating to employment, work, wages, hours of work, privileges, rights or duties of employers or employee, or the mode, terms and conditions of employment or refusal to employ and includes—
 - (i) all matters pertaining to-
 - (a) the relationship between employers and employees;
 - (b) the dismissal or non-employment of any person;
 - (c) the demarcations of function of any employees or classes of employees;
 - (d) any right or claim under or in respect of or concerning a registered agreement or a submission, settlement or award made under this Act; and
 - (ii) all questions of what is fair and right in relation to any such matter having regard to the interest of the person immediately concerned and of the community as a whole;
 - (19) "industry" means-
 - (a) any business, trade, manufacture, undertaking or calling of employers;
 - (b) any calling, service, employment, handicraft, or industrial occupation or a vocation of employees; and includes—
 - (i) agriculture and agricultural operations;
 - (ii) any branch of an industry or group of industries which the State Government may, by notification, declare to be an industry for the purposes of this Act;
- (20) "Joint Committee" means a joint committee constituted under section 36;
 - (21) "Labour Court" means a Labour Court constituted under section 8;
- (22) "Labour Officer" means a Labour officer appointed under subsection (1) of section 6 and includes a Deputy Labour Officer while exercising the powers and performing the duties of a Labour Officer as may be assigned to him by the Commissioner of Labour under sub-section (3) of section 6;
- (23) 'local area' mean any area notified as a local area for any or all industries and for all or any of the purposes of this Act;

Provided that such area shall not comprise of more than one revenue district:

[Provided further that such area may, for reasons to be recorded in writing, comprise of more than one revenue district including; the entire State.]1

- (24) "lock out" means the closing of a place or part of a place of employment or the total or partial suspension of work by an employer or the total or partial refusal by an employer to continue to employ persons employed by him where such closing, suspension or refusal occurs in consequence or in anticipation of an industrial dispute and is intended for the purpose of-
 - (a) compelling any of the employees directly affected by such closing, suspension or refusal or any of his other employees; or
 - (b) aiding any other employer in compelling persons employed by to accept any term or condition of or affecting employment;
- (25) "member" means a person who is an ordinary member of a union and who has paid a subscription of not less than [one rupee]2 per month:

Provided that no person shall at any time be deemed to be a member if his subscription is in arrears for a period of two months or more next preceding such time;

Explanation A subscription for a particular month shall, for the purposes of this clause, be deemed to be in arrears if such subscription is not paid by the end of the month in respect of which it is due;

- (26) "Registrar" means the Registrar appointed under section 5 and if no such person is appointed, the Registrar of Trade Unions under the Indian Trade Unions Act, 1926 (XVI of 1926), and includes an Assistant Registrar while exercising such powers and performing such duties of the Registrar as may be conferred or imposed on him by or under this Act;
- (27) "Representative of employees" means a representative of employees entitled to appear or act as such under section 27;
- "Representative Union" means a union for recognised as a Representative Union under this Act;
- "settlement" means a settlement arrived at during the course of (29)conciliation proceedings under this Act;
- (30) "standing orders" means standing orders as defined in [the Madhya Pradesh Industrial Employment (Standing Orders) Act, 1961 (No. 26 of 1961);]3
- (31) "stoppage" means a total or partial cessation of work by the employees in an industry acting in combination or a concerted refusal or a refusal under a common understanding of employees to continue to work or to accept work, whether such cessation or refusal is or is not in consequence of an industrial dispute;
- (32) "strike" means a total or partial cessation of work by the employees in an industry acting in combination or a concerted refusal or a refusal under a common understanding of employees to continue to work or to accept work, where such cessation or refusal is in consequence or in anticipation of an industrial dispute;

2. Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.2(ii), for "four annas".

^{1.} Ins. by M. P. Act 46 of 1976, S.2.

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S. 2, for "Madhya Pradesh Industrial Workmen (Standing Orders) Act, 1959 (No. 19 of 1959)."

- (33) "undertaking" means a concern in any industry;
- (34) "union" means a Trade Union of Employees which is registered under the Indian Trade Unions Act 1926 (XVI of 1926);
- (35) "wages" means remuneration of all kinds capable of being expressed in terms of money and payable to the employee in respect of his employment of work done in such employment and includes—
 - (i) any bonus, allowances (including dearness allowance), reward or additional remuneration;
 - (ii) the value of any house accommodation, light, water, medical attendance or any other amenity or service;
 - (iii) any wages payable for the period of leave;
 - (iv) any compensation payable for lay-off or retrenchment;
 - (v) any contribution by the employer to any social security scheme, pension or provident fund;
 - (vi) any gratuity payable on discharge;
 - (vii) any travelling allowance or value of any travelling concession;
 - (viii) any sum paid or payable to or on behalf of an employee to defray special expenses entailed on him by the nature of his employment; and
 - (ix) any amount payable to an employee under any law for the time being in force for the protection of rights of employees or for regulating their relations with the employers, or under any award, settlement or agreement.

CHAPTER II

Authorities to be Constituted or Appointed Under this Act

3. (1) The State Government shall, by notification, appoint a person to be the Commissioner of Labour for the State and may appoint the following categories of officers to assist the Commissioner of Labour—

Commissioner of Labour.

- (a) Deputy Commissioner of Labour;(b) Assistant Commissioner of Labour.
- (2) The Deputy Commissioner of Labour and the Assistant Commissioner of Labour shall, subject to the control of the Commissioner of Labour and to the conditions and restrictions, if any, prescribed by the State Government in this behalf, exercise such powers and perform such duties of the Commissioner under this Act as may be delegated to them by the Commissioner of Labour from time to time.
- 4. (1) The State Government shall, by notification, appoint a person to be the Chief Conciliator for the State.
- (2) The State Government may, by notification, appoint any person to be a Conciliator for any or all industries in a local area or areas specified in the notification.
- 5. (1) The State Government may, by notification, appoint the Commissioner of Labour or any other person to be the Registrar of Representative Unions under this Act.
- (2) The State Government may, by notification, appoint an Assistant Commissioner of Labour or any other person to be an Assistant Registrar of Representative Unions for any such local area or areas as may be specified therein and may, by general or special order, confer and impose on any such person all or any of the powers and duties of the Registrar.

Conciliator.

Appointment of Registrar and Assitant Registrar.

Labour Officers and Deputy Labour Officers.

- 6. (1) The State Government may, by notification, appoint persons in such numbers as it thinks fit to be Labour Officers or Deputy Labour Officers.
- (2) A Labour Officer appointed under sub-section (1) shall exercise jurisdiction within such local area or areas as may, from time to time, be assigned to him by the Commissioner of Labour.
- (3) A Deputy Labour Officer appointed under sub-section (1) shall exercise such powers and perform such duties of a Labour Officer under this Act, as may, from time to time, be assigned to him by the Commissioner of Labour in such local area or areas as may be specified by him.

Powers of supervision of Commissioner of Labour. 7. The Deputy Commissioner of Labour, the Assistant Commissioner of Labour, the Chief Conciliator, the Conciliator, the Registrar, the Assistant Registrar, the Labour Officer and the Deputy Labour Officer shall, subject to the provisions of this Act and the rules made thereunder, work under the general guidance and supervision of the Commissioner of Labour.

Labour Courts.

- 8. (1) The State Government shall, by notification, constitute one or more Labour Courts having jurisdiction in such local area or areas as may specified in such notification.
- (2) The Labour Court shall be presided over by a single person to be appointed by the State Government [with the approval of the Chief justice of the High Court.]¹
- [(3) A person shall not be qualified for appointment as a presiding officer of a Labour Court unless—
 - (a) he has held any judicial office in India for not less than three years; or
 - (b) he has held any office in the Labour Department not below the rank of a Labour Officer for a period of not less than five years and is a law graduate; or
 - (c) he has practised as an advocate or a pleader in Madhya Pradesh for a total period of not less than five years; or
 - (d) he is or has been presiding officer of a Labour Court constituted under any law.]2
- (4) Notwithstanding anything contained in this section, any person who before the coming into force of this Act has been a presiding officer of any Labour Court constituted under the Bombay Industrial Relations Act, 1946, as adapted by the Madhya Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (31 of 1949), for a period of not less than three years shall, unless otherwise directed by the State Government, continue to be the presiding officer of such Court.

Appointment of Additional Presiding Officers.

- [8-A (1) An Additional Presiding Officer having the qualification laid down in sub-section (3) of section 8 may, whenever it appears necessary or expedient, be appointed by the State Government to a Labour Court constituted under sub-section (1) of section 8 and such Additional Presiding Officer shall have the jurisdiction of the Labour Court to which he is appointed and shall exercise powers of the Presiding Officer thereof, subject to such conditions as may be laid down by the State Government in this behalf.
- (2) A person may be appointed an Additional Presiding Officer of one or more courts, and a Presiding Officer of one court may be appointed an Additional Presiding Officer of another court or of other courts.]³
 - 1. Added by the M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S.3(i).
 - 2. Subs. by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S.3(ii).
 - 3. Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.3.

9. [(1) There shall be an Industrial Court for the State consisting of the President, and two or more members as the State Government may, from time to time think fit to appoint.

Industrial Court.

- (2) A person shall not be qualified for appointment as President of the Industrial Court, unless.
 - (a) he is or has been a judge of a Hgh Court; or
 - (b) he is eligible for being appointed a judge of a High Court; or
 - (c) he has worked as President or member of the Board of Revenue for a period of not less than three years; or
 - (d) he has worked as Commissioner of Labour for a period of not less than three years; or
 - (e) he has worked as a member of the Industrial Court for a period of not less than five years.
- (2-a) A person shall not be qualified for appointment as a member of the Industrial Court, unless—
 - (a) he has been a judge of a High Court; or
 - (b) he is eligible for being appointed a judge of a High Court; or
 - (c) he has been a District Judge for a period of not less than three years; or
 - (d) he has acted as a Presiding Officer of a labour court constituted under any law for the time being in force for not less than seven years; or
 - (e) he has in the opinion of the State Government adequate knowledge in the field of industrial relations.]1
- (3) Notwithstanding anything contained in this section, any person who immediately before the coming into force of this Act was acting as a member of the Industrial Court constituted under the Bombay Industrial Relations Act, 1946, as adapted by the Madhya Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (31 of 1949), shall, unless otherwise directed by the State Government, continue to be a member of the Industrial Court under this Act.
- (4) Notwithstanding anything contained in sub-section (2) if the office of the President of the Industrial Court falls vacant, the State Government may appoint a member of the Industrial Court, [if any,]² temporarily, in such vacancy for a period not exceeding six months.
- (5) The Industrial Court shall hold its sittings at such place or places within the State as the President may direct.
- [(6) The Industrial Court may make rules for the exercise of powers and functions of the Court, by benches constituted of one or more members thereof, and all decisions or awards given by such benches in exercise of such powers or functions shall be deemed to be the decisions or awards of the Industrial Court.]3
- [(7) Where in a proceeding before a Bench consisting of even number of members, equal number of members consisting of such, Bench differ on a point, then—

^{1.} Subs. by S.4(i), M. P. Act 41 of 1981. S. 4 (i).

^{2.} Ins. by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S.4(ii).

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.4(ii).

- (i) if the President is a member of such Eench, the point on which the members differ shall be stated and placed for decision before such person other than a member of the Industrial Court and qualified to be President thereof under sub-section (2) of section 9 as the State Government may, by notification, specify;
- (ii) if the president is not a member of such Bench, the point on which the members differ shall be stated and placed before the President who may either decide the point himself or may nominate one or more of the other members to deal with the matter.]1

Board of Arbitration.

- 11. (1) The State Government may, by notification, constitute a Board of Arbitration.
- (2) The State Government shall, in the prescribed manner, prepare panels of members representing the interests of employers and employees, who may be appointed members of the Board.
- (3) Whenever a Board is to be constituted each party to the dispute shall be called upon by the prescribed authority to submit a panel of not less than five persons representing its interests and to propose jointly a person to be appointed as Chairman within such time as may be prescribed.
- (4) The Board shall consist of an equal number of persons nominated by the State Government from the respective panels of the parties submitted by them under sub-section (3) and the Chairman jointly nominated by them:

Provided that-

- (i) if either or both the parties fail to submit the panels as required by sub-section (3), the State Government shall appoint the requisite number of persons as representing the interests of the party in default from the panels of persons prepared under subsection (2); and
- (ii) if the parties fail to agree to the appointment of any person as Chairman within the prescribed period the State Government shall appoint a member or the President of the Industrial Court to be the Chairman of the Board.
- (5) If any vacancy occurs in the office of the Chairman or a member of the Board before the Board has completed its work, it shall be filled in the manner prescribed and the 'proceedings shall be continued before the Board so reconstituted from the stage at which they were when the vacancy occurred.

Finality of order constituting Labour Court, Industrial Court or Board. [12. No order of the State Government appointing any person as a Presiding Officer, an Additional Presiding Officer, President or Chairman or member of a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board or Arbitration, as the case may be, shall be called in question in any Court.]3

CHAPTER III

Recognition of Representative Unions and Associations of Employers

Application for recognition as a Representative Union.

13. (1) Any union may apply in the prescribed form to the Registrar for recognition as a Representative Union in respect of any industry in a local area:

- 1. Subs. by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S.4(iii).
- 2. Omitted by S.5. ibid.
- 3. Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.5.

[Provided that the Registrar shall not entrtain an application by a union, whose application for recognition as a representative union has been rejected by him unless a period of one year has elapsed from the date of such rejection.]¹

(2) On receipt of such application and on payment of the prescribed fee the Registrar shall hold an enquiry in such manner as may be prescribed and if he is satisfied that such union fulfils the conditions necessary for recongnition specified in section 14, he shall enter the name of such union in the register maintained under section 15 and shall issue a certificate of recongnition in such form as may be prescribed:

Provided that-

- [(i) where two or more unions fulfilling the conditions necessary for recognition apply for recognition in respect of the same industry in any local area in the same calendar month, the union having the largest membership of employees employed in the industry shall alone be recognised and no applications for recognition received in any subsequent calendar month shall be considered, until the applications received first in the earlier calendar month is disposed of by the Registrar.]²
- (ii) the Registrar shall not recognise any union if he is satisfied for reasons to be recorded in writing that the application for recognition is not made bonafide in the interests of employees but is made in the interests of employer;
- (iii) the Registrar shall not recognise any union if at any time within six months immediately preceding the date of the application for recognition or thereafter the union has instigated, aided or assisted the continuation of a strike or stoppage which has been held or declared to be illegal.
- 14. No union shall be recognised as a Representative Union under this Act, unless-

Conditions of recognition.

- (i) membership of the union is open to every employee employed in the industry in the local area;
- [(ii) the union has for the whole of the period of three months immediately preceding the month in which the application for recognition is made under section 13, a membership of not less than twenty five per centum of the total number of employees employed in the industry in such local area]³
- [(iii) the union has undertaken by a special resolution that it shall not sponser, declare or support a strike until a ballet is taken and not less than two-thirds of the total members of the union vote in favour of the strike.]4
- 15. The Registrar shall maintain a register of Representative Unions recognised by him under this Act in such form as may be prescribed.
 - 6. The Registrar shall cancel the recognition of union—
 - (a) if the Industrial Court directs [under sub-section (3) of section 22 or section 69]⁵ that the recognition of such union shall be cancelled;

Register of Representative Unions.

Cancellation of recognition

- 1. Added by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.6(a).
- 2. Subs. by S.6(b), ibid.
- 3. Subs. by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S.4.
- 4. Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.7.
- 5. Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S. 3, for "on appeal under sub-section (3) of section 22."

- (b) if after giving notice to such union to show cause why its recognition should not be cancelled on the grounds specified therein and after holding an enquiry in the prescribed manner he is satisfied—
 - (i) that it was recognised under mistake, misrepresentation or fraud; or
 - (ii) that the membership of the union has for a continuous period of three months fallen below the minimum required under section 14 for its recognition:

Provided that when a strike or stoppage which is not illegal or a lockout or closure has extended to a period exceeding fourteen days in any month, such month shall be excluded in computing the said period of three months:

Provided further that recognition of union shall not be cancelled under the provisions of this sub-clause unless its membership for the month in which the show cause notice under this section was issued was less than such minimum; or

[(ii-a) x x x x]1

- (iii) that the Representative Union is not being conducted bonafide in the interests of employees but in the interests of employers to the prejudice of the interests of employees; or
- (iv) that the membership of such union is no longer open to all employees employed in the local area concerned and that the membership is refused to employees of such area on unsatisfactory or unreasonable grounds; or
- (v) that the union has ceased to function according to its constitution; or
- (vi) that it has instigated, aided or assisted the commencement or continuance of a strike or stoppage which has been held or declared to be illegal;
- [(vii) that it has sponsored, declared or supported a strike inviolation of the provisions contained in clause (iii) of section 14;]²
- (c) if its registration under the Indian Trade Unions Act, 1926 (XVI of 1926), is cancelled.

17. 3[(1) If at any time any union makes an application to the Registrar for being recognised in place of the union already recognised as the Representative Union for an Industry in a local area on the ground that it has a large membership of the employees employed in such industry]4 the Registrar shall call upon the Representative Union by a notice in wrting accompained by a copy of the application to show cause within one month of the receipt of such notice why the applicant union should not be recognised in its place. An application made under this sub-section shall be accommanded by such fee as may be prescribed]:

[Provided that no application shall be entertain under this sub-section unless a period of two years has elapsed from the date of the issuance of certificate of recognition to the existing union under sub-section (2) of section 13:

Provided further that the registrar shall not entertain any application from a union for recognition unless a period of one year has elapsed from the date of disposal of the previous application of that union.]

- 1. Omitted by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S. 5.
- 2. Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S. 8.
- 3. Subs. by M. P. Act 8 of 1978, S.6(a).
- 4. Subs. by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S. 6(a), for "it has membership of fifty one percentum or more of the employees employed in such industry."
- 5. Added by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S. 9.

Recognition of another union in place of existing Representative Union.

- (2) The Registrar shall forward to the Labour Officer a copy of the said application and notice.
- 1[(3) If, on the expiry of the period of notice under sub-section (1), and after holding such inquiry as may be prescribed, the Registrar is satisfied that the applicant union complies with the conditions of recognition specified in section 14 and that [its membership was, during the whole of the period of three months immediately preceding the date of the application under this section, larger than the membership of the representative union]2 he shall, subject to the provisions of section 13, recognise the applicant union as the Representative Union for such industry in a local area.]
- (4) On the recognition of the applicant union under sub-section (3), the recognition of the Representative Union shall stand cancelled.
- 18. A union, the recognition of which has been cancelled, may, at any time after three months from the date of such cancellation and on payment of such fee as may be prescribed, apply for re-recognition. The provisions of sections 13 and 14 shall apply in respect of such application:

Provided that a union the recognition of which has been cancelled on any ground other than—

- (i) a mistake; or
- 3[(ii) any ground specified in sub-clause (ii) [................]4 of clause (b) of section 16]

shall not be entitled to apply for recognition within six months of the cancellation.

- 19. The Registrar may after giving fifteen days notice dismiss any application made under section 13, 17 or 18 if he is satisfied that the applicant union has failed to pursue the application diligently without any sufficient cause.
- 20. Notwithstanding anything contained in any law for the time being in force the cancellation of the recognition of a Representative Union shall not relieve that union or any member thereof from any penalty or liability incurred under this Act prior to such cancellation.
- 21. Every Representative Union shall submit to the Registrar on such dates and in such manner as may be prescribed, periodical returns of its membership.
- 22. (1) Any party to a proceeding before the Registrar may, within thirty days from the date of the communication of the order passed by the Registrar under this Chapter, appeal against such order to the Industrial Court:

Provided that the Industrial Court may, for sufficient reason, admit any appeal made after the expiry of such period.

- (2) The Industrial Court may admit an appeal under sub-section (1) if on a perusal of the memorandum of appeal and the decision appealed against it finds that the decision is contrary to law or is otherwise erroneous.
- (3) The Industrial Court in appeal may confirm, modify or rescind any order passed by the Registrar and may pass such consequential orders as it may deem fit. A copy of the orders passed by the Industrial Court shall be sent to the Registrar.

Application for re-recognition.

Dismissal of certain applications for want of prosecution.

Liability of union or members not relieved by cancellation.

Periodical returns to be submitted to Registrar.

Appeal to Industrial Court from order of Registrar cancelling recognition.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 8 of 1978, S.6(b).

^{2.} Subs. by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S.6(b), for "its membership was, during the whole of the period of these months immediately proceeding the date of the application under this section not less than fifty one per centum of the employees employed in such industry in a local area."

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 8 of 1978, S.7.

^{4.} Words, "or sub-clause (ii-a)," omitted by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S. 7.

Legal aid to approved unions at Government expenses in important proceedings.

- 23. 1[(I) [An approved union]2 entitled to appear under this Act:-
 - (d) before a Labour Court in a proceeding for determining whether a strike, lock-out, stoppage, closure or change is illegal; or
 - (b) before the Industrial Court in a proceeding involving in the opinion of the Court an important question of law or fact;

may apply to the Industrial Court for the grant of legal aid at the expense of the State Government.

- (2) Where [an approved union]2 is a party to any case arising out of the proceedings under this Act before the High Court or the Supreme Court, it may apply to the Industrial Court for the grant of legal aid at the expense of the State Government for purpose of such case.]
- (3) The Industrial Court may, after obtaining a report from the Registrar on the financial condition of the union, refuse the legal aid or grant it in accordance with rules framed under this Act.

Recognition of combination of employers as association of employers.

- 24. The State Government may, from time to time by notification—
 - (a) recognise any combination of employers in an industry whether incorporated or not as an association of employers for the purposes of this Act, provided that one of the objects of such combination is the regualtion of conditions of employment in the industry;
 - (b) withdraw any recognition granted under clause (a) [***]3:

Provided that no recognition shall be withdrawn unless an opportunity has been given to such association of employers [to be heard on the grounds on which it is proposed to withdraw therecognition.]4

CHAPTER IV

Representatives of Employers and Employees and Appearance on Their Behalf

Appearance on behalf of employers.

- 25. (1) In any proceeding under this Act, an association of employers shall be entitled to represent—
 - (d) any employer who is a member of the association;
 - (b) any employer connected with the same industry not being a member of the association, who has intimated in writing to the prescribed authority that he has agreed to be represented by the association in such proceeding;

and any notice or intimation given by or to such association shall be deemed to have been given by or to every employer it is entitled to represent.

(2) Where more employers than one are affected or under any of the provisions of this Act deemed to be affected, and no association of employers is under sub-section (1) entitled to represent all of them, the representative determined in the prescribed manner shall be entitled to act as their representative.

Appearance on behalf of employees.

26. Save as provided in section 28 no employee shall be allowed to appear or actin any proceeding under this Act except through the representative of the emloyees.

2. Subs. by M. P. Act 11 of 1980, S.8 (a) ,(b) for "A representative union".

3. Words "on the grounds on which it is proposed to withdraw the recognition" omitted by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.4(i).

4. Subs. by S.4(ii), ibid, for "to be heard".

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 8 of 1978, S.8.

27. The following shall be entitled to act and appear in the order of preference specified below as the representative of employees in an industry in any local area:—

Representation of employees

- (i) a Representative Union for such industry;
- (ii) any union of which the employee of such industry is a member;
- (iii) Labour Officer:

Provided that where the Labour Officer is the representative of employees he shall not enter into any agreement under section 33 or settlement under section 43 on their behalf unless the terms of such agreement or settlement, as the case may be, are acceped by them in the prescribed manner:

Provided further that where in the opinion of the State Government, of the employees of the industry as a whole deemed to be affected under section 32, the Labour Officer shall not enter into an agreement under this section except with the previous approval in writing of the State Government.

28. A conciliator, an arbitrator, a Labour Court, the Industrial Court, or a Board may, if he or it considers it expedient for the ends of justice, permit an individual, whether an employee or not, to appear in any proceeding before him or it:

Person who may appears in proceeding.

$[x \quad x \quad x]^1$

29. (1) Save as provided in sub-section (2), no legal practitioner shall be entitled to appear in proceedings under this Act.

Appearance by legal practitioner.

- (2) A legal practitioner may appear-
 - (i) in any proceeding in connection with an offence under this Act;
 - (ii) in any other proceedings before a Labour Court or the Industrial Court with the leave of the Court.

CHAPTER V

Powers and Duties of Labour Officer

30. (1) A Labour Officer shall exercise the powers conferred and perform the duties imposed on him by or under this Act.

Powers and duties of Labour Officer.

- (2). For the purposes of exercising his powers or performing his duties a Labour Officer may at any time during working hours, and outside working hours after giving reasonable notice, enter and inspect—
 - (a) any place used for the purpose of or connected with any industry;
 - (b) my place used as the office of any union;
 - (c) any premises provided by an employer for the residence of his employees;

and shall be enttiled to call for inspection and take or ask for copies of all relevant documents which he may deem necessary for the due discharge of his duties and exercise of powers under this Act.

(3) All particulars contained in or information obtained from any document inspected or called for under sub-section (2), shall, if the person from whose possession the document was obtained so requires, be treated as confidential:

^{1.} Proviso omitted by M. P. Act 32 of 1963, S.2.

Provided that a Labour Officer may disclose such information as may be necessary for the purpose of any proceedings [under this Act or under any other law for the time being in force.]]

- (4) A Labour Officer may, after giving reasonable notice, convene a meeting of employees for any of the purposes of this Act, on the premises where they are employed, and may require the employer to affix a written notice of the meeting at such conspicuous place in such premises as he may order and may also himself affix or cause to be affixed such notice. The notice shall specify the date, time and place of the meeting, the employees or class of employees affected, and the purpose for which the meeting is
- (5) A Labour Officer shall be entitled to appear and plead in any proceeding under this Act.
 - (6) It shall be the duty of the Labour Officer-
 - (a) to watch the interest of employees and promote harmonious relations between employers and employees;
 - (b) to investigate the grievances of employees and represent to employers such grievances and make recommendations to them in consultation with the employees concerned for their redress;
 - (c) to report to the State Government the existence of any industrial dispute of which no notice of change has been given, together with the names of the parties thereto:

Provided that the Labour Officer shall not-

(i) appear in any proceeding in which the employees who are parties thereto are represented by a Representative Union.

$$\begin{bmatrix} (ii) & x & x & x \\ (iii) & x & x & x \end{bmatrix} 2$$

(7) If an employer does not accept and implement the recommendations made by the Labour Officer under clause (b) of sub-section (6) within a reasonable time, he shall communicate to the Labour Officer the reasons therefore.

CHAPTER VI Changes

Notice of change.

- 31. (1) An employer intending to effect any change in respect of an industrial matter specified in Schedule I shall give notice of such intention in the prescribed form and manner to the representative of employees and to such other persons as may be prescribed.
- (2) A representative of employees desiring a change in respect of an industrial matter which is neither covered by standing orders nor is specified in Schedule II, shall give notice thereof in the prescribed manner to the employers concerned and to such other persons as may be prescribed.
- (3) A representative of employees or an employee desiring a change in respect of an industrial matter specified in Schedule II or any other matter arising cut of such change may make an application to Labour Court in such manner as may be prescribed.

* * * *]3

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.5, For "under this Act".

^{2.} Omitted by M. P. Act 32 of 1963, S.3.

^{3.} Provisions omitted by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S. 10.

32. Where an employer or a representative of employees gives a notice of a proposed change under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2), as the case may be, of section 31 and such change, in the opinion of the Government, affects the majority of employees or employers engaged in an industry in any local area, the Government may, by notification, declare that the whole of such industry is affected by such change and thereupon it shall be deemed to be so affected. Upon the publication of such notification the employer of every undertaking in such industry in the local area shall be deemed to have received the notice under sub-section (2) of section 31.

Notice of change when to be deemed general notice.

33. (1) If in regard to a change proposed under sub-section (1) or (2) of section 31, an agreement is arrived at, a memorandum of such agreement shall be forwarded to the Registrar.

Agreements.

- (2) On receipt of the memorandum of agreement signed by the parties under sub-section 1), the Registrar shall register the agreement if it is arrived at—
 - (a) within seven days from the service of a notice under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) of section 31, or within such further period as may be agreed upon by the parties; or

[(b) * * * *]1

(c) within two months from the completion of conciliation proceedings:

Provided that the Registrar shall not register an agreement which on enquiry he is satisfied is in contravention of the provisions of this Act or was the result of mistake, misrepresentation, fraud, undue influence, coercion or threat.

- (3) An appeal shall lie to the Industrial Court against an order of the Registrar refusing to register an agreement under sub-section (2). The provisions of section 22 shall apply to such appeal.
- (4) An agreement registered under this section shall come into operation on the date a specified therein or if no date is so specified on its being recorded by the Registrar.
 - 34. An illegal change means—

Illegal change.

State of the American

- (a) a change in any standing order made except in accordance with the provisions of [the Madhya Pradesh Industrial Employment (Standing Orders) Act, 1961 (No. 26 of 1961);]2
- (b) any change in any industrial matter mentioned in Schedule I made—
 - (i) before giving a notice of change as required by the provisions of sub-section (1) of section 31;
 - (ii) within the period [provided for in clause (a) of]³ subsection (2) of section 33 unless an agreement is arrived at;
 - (iii) where no agreement is arrived at before the completion of the conciliation proceedings and during the period of ten days thereafter;
 - (iv) where no settlement is arrived at after two months from the date of the completion of the conciliation proceedings before the conciliator;

I. Omitted by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.6.

Subs. by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S. 2, for "the Madhya Pradesh Industrial Workmen (Standing Orders) Act, 1959 (No. 19 of 1959)".

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961; S.7, for "provided for in".

- (v) in cases where there is a registered submission or in which the dispute has been referred to arbitration before the date on which the award comes into operation;
- (c) any change in contravention of the terms of a registered agreement, settlement or effective award;
- (d) failure to carry out the terms of a registered agreement or settlement, or an order, decision or award under this Act.

Employer to make change, etc., within certain time.

35. An employer required under the terms of any effective decision or order of a Labour Court, the Industrial Court, or a Board to carry out a change or withdraw an illegal change, shall comply with such requirement within such time as the Court or the Board giving or making the decision or order specifies and where no time is specified by it within seventy-two hours of the communication of the decision or order.

CHAPTER VII

Joint Consultation

Constitution of Joint Committees,

- 36. (1) Where there is a Representative Union a Joint Committee may be constituted in an undertaking in the prescribed manner with the consent of the employer and the Representative Union for the industry for the local area.
- (2) Where there is no Representative Union a Joint Committee may be constituted in an undertaking in the manner prescribed, if so required by Government.

Duties of the Joint Committees.

37. It shall be the duty of the Joint Committee to promote measures for securing amity and good relations between the employer and employees and to that end to consult on matters of their common interest or concern and endeavour to compose any material differences of opinion in respect of such matters:

Provided that matters in Schedule I shall be outside the purview of this committee.

Procedure of Joint Committee;

38. T'e Joint Committee shall function in the manner prescribed in this behalf.

CHAPTER VIII

Conciliation proceedings

Report of dispute.

- 39. (1) If any proposed change in respect of which notice is given under [sub-sections (1) and (2) of]¹ section 31 is objected to by the representative of employees or the employer, as the case may be, the party who gave such notice shall, if it still desires that the change should be effected, forward to the Conciliator for the local area for the industry concerned and to such other authorities and in such form and in such manner as may be prescribed a full statement of the case within fifteen days from the date of service of such notice on the other party or within one week of the expiry of the periodfixed by both the parties under clause (a) of sub-section (2) of section 33 for arriving at an agreement.
- (2) When a notification is issued under section 32 in respect of such change, any employer or employee in the industry may, within seven days from the date of publication of such notification, forward such statement to the said officer.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section a change shall be deemed to be objected to by the representative of employees or the employer, as the case may be, if within seven days from the date of service of such notice or

^{1.} Ins. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.8

within the period fixed by both the parties under clause (a) of sub-section (2) of section 33 for arriving at an agreement, a memorandum of agreement has not been forwarded to the Registrar under the said sub-section.

40. On receipt of the statement of the case under section 39 the conciliator shall, except in a case in which by reason of the provisions of section 47 a conciliation proceeding cannot be commenced, within a week enter the industrial dispute in the register kept for the purpose and thereupon the conciliation proceeding shall be deemed to have commenced from the date of such entry in the register, which date shall be communicated by him to the parties concerned.

Commencement of conciliation proceedings.

41. It shall be the duty of the Conciliator to endeavour to bring about the settlement of the industrial dispute and for this purpose the Conciliator shall enquire into the dispute and all matters affecting the merits therefor and may do all such things as he thinks fit for the purpose of persuading the parties to come to a fair and amicable settlement of the dispute and may, subject to the provisions of section 45, adjourn the conciliation proceeding for any period sufficient in his opinion to allow the parties to arrive at a settlement [or for any other reason.]]

Conciliation proceeding.

42. (1) The Chief Conciliator may intervene or direct any Conciliator to intervene at any stage in any conciliation proceeding held by another Conciliator, and thereafter the Chief Conciliator or the Conciliator so directed shall hold the conciliation proceeding with or without the assistance of the Conciliator.

Power of Chief Conciliator to intervene.

(2) The Chief Conciliator may from time to time issue such directions as he deems fit to any Conciliator at any stage of a conciliation proceeding. He may also intervene in the conciliation proceeding before any other Conciliator to assist such conciliation.

Settlement and report.

- 43. (1) If a settlement of an industrial dispute is arrived at in a conciliation proceeding, a memorandum of such settlement shall be drawn up in the prescribed form by the Conciliator and signed by the employer and the representative of employees. The Conciliator shall send a report of the proceedings along with a copy of the memorandum of settlement to the Registrar and the Cheif Conciliator. The Registrar shall record such settlement in the register of settlement and intimate to the parties the date on which it is so recorded. The change, if any, agreed to by such settlement shall come into operation from the date agreed upon in such settlement and where no such date is agreed upon from the date on which it is recorded in the register.
- (2) If no such settlement is arrived at, the Conciliator shall, as soon as possible, after the close of the proceeding before him, send a full report to the Chief Conciliator stating the steps taken by him for ascertaining the facts and circumstances relating to the dispute and the reasons on account of which, in his opinion, settlement could not be arrived at.
- (3) The Chief Conciliator shall forward the report submitted to him under sub-section (2), or if he is himself the Conciliator his report to the Government with such remarks as he deems fit.
- (4) Notwithstanding anything contained in this section where an industrial dispute is settled in regard to some of the industrial matters included therein and has not been settled in regard to others and the parties agree in writing that the settlement shall take place in regard to the industrial matters so settled, the settlement of the said industrial matter shall be registered and a report of the industrial matters not settled shall be sent in accordance with the provisions of this section.
- (5) The Government shall notify in the Gazette that no settlement was arrived at in the dispute, in its entirety or, as the case may be, as regards the industrial matters specified in the notification.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.9, for "for any other reason".

- (6) Before the close of the proceeding before him the Conciliator shall ascertain from the parties whether they are willing to submit the dispute to arbitration and make a note to that effect in his report under sub-section (2).
- (7) (a) Notwithstanding anything contained in the foregoing subsections, if at any stage of a conciliation proceeding the parties agree in writing to submit the dispute to arbitration, the agreement shall be deemed to be a submission within the meaning of section 49.
- [(b) Where the agreement provides for arbitration either by an arbitrator or by a Labour Gourt, or by the Industrial Court or by a Board, the Concilator shall forthwith refer the dispute to the arbitrator or a Labour Court or the Industrial Court or submit it to the State Government for reference to a Board, as the case may be.
- (c) Where the agreement provides for arbitration without an arbitrator being named therein, the Conciliator shall forthwith submit the dispute to the State Government for giving directions under the proviso to subsection (2) of section 49.]1

Procedure and powers of conciliator.

- 44. (1) The proceedings before a Conciliator shall be held in camera.
- (2) If a party to an industrial dispute or a witness or any other person giving any information or producing any document in a conciliation proceeding makes a request in writing to the Conciliator that such information or the contents of such document be treated as confidential, the Conciliator shall direct that such information or document be treated as confidential:

Provided that the Conciliator may permit the information or the contents of the document to be disclosed to the other party.

- (3) Save as provided in sub-section (2), a Conciliator or any person present at or concerned in the conciliation proceeding shall not disclose any information or the contents of any document in respect of which a request has been made under sub-section (2) without the consent in writing of the party making the request under the said sub-section.
- (4) Nothing in this section shall apply to the disclosure of any information or the contents of any document for the purpose of a prosecution under this Act or under any other law for the time being in force.
- [(5) The Conciliator shall have the powers as are vested in a Civil Court under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (V of 1908) in respect of the following matters, namely:—
 - (a) summoning and enforcing the attendance of any person;
 - (b) examining any person:

Provided that such examination shall not be on oath;

- (c) compelling the production of documents and material objects; and
- (d) such other matters as may be prescribed.]2

Time limit fo ; conciliation proceedings.

45. A Conciliator shall conclude his proceedings within one month from the date of its commencement under section 40 or such further period as both the parties may agree to:

Provided that in computing the period of one month under this section the period during which the proceedings remained adjourned with the consent of both the parties shall be excluded.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S. 10.

^{2.} Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.11.

46. A conciliation proceeding shall be deemed to have been completed-

Completion of conciliation proceedings

- when a memorandum of the settlement arrived at in such proceeding is signed by the parties under sub-section (I) of section 43; or
- when the parties agree in writing to submit the dispute to arbitration; or
- (iii) if no settlement is arrived at when the notification under sub-section (5) of section 43 is published; or
- (iv) when the time limit fixed for the completion of such proceeding under section 45 has expired.

Explanation.—When an industrial dispute is settled in regard to some of the industrial matters included therein, the conciliation proceeding in regard to those matters only shall be deemed to have been completed within the meaning of this section.

47. No conciliation proceeding in respect of an industrial dispute shall-

- (a) be commenced if
 - the representative of employees is directly affected by the dispute [* * *]1 is a party to a submission relating to such dispute or a dispute relating to an industrial matter similar to that regarding which the dispute has arisen;
 - (ii) it has been referred to arbitration under the provisions of section 51 or 52;
 - (iii) by reason of a direction issued under sub-section (2) of section 97 or by reason of any of the other provisions of this Act the employers and employees concerned are in respect of the dispute bound by a registered agreement, settlement, submission or award;
- (b) be continued after the date on which
 - a submission relating to such dispute is entered into by the employer and employees concerned under section 43 or 49;
 - the dispute is referred to arbitration under section 51
 - the direction referred to in sub--clause (iii) of clause (a) is issued.

48. A conciliation proceeding which is discontinued under clause (b) of section 47 shall be deemed to have been completed on the date referred to in the said clause, and the provisions of section 43 with regard to the submission and forwarding of report shall apply to such conciliation proceeding. CHAPTER IX

Arbitration

49. (1) Any employer and a Representative Union or where there is no Representative Union a representative of employees may, by a written agreement, agree to submit any present or future industrial dispute or any class or classes of such industrial disputes to the arbitration of a Labour Court, the Industrial Court, a Board or any other person, or to arbitration without any arbitrator being named therein.

Conciliation proceedings, not to be commenced or continued

in certain cases.

Conciliation proceeding dis continued deemed completed.

Submission.

Words " is a Representative Union which " omitted by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.11.

(2) Such agreement shall be called a submission and a copy of every such submission shall be sent to the Registrar who shall record it in the register to be maintained for the purpose and inform the parties of the date of registration:

Provided that if no person is named in the submission the arbitrator shall be the Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board as the Government may direct.

Submission when revocable.

50. (1) Every submission, shall in the absence or any provision to the contrary contained therein, be irrevocable:

Provided that a submission to refer future disputes to arbitration may at any time be revocked by any of the parties to such submission by giving the other party six months' notice in writing:

Provided further that before the expiry of the said period of six months the parties may agree to continue the submission for such further period as may be agreed upon between them.

$(2) \quad [\quad x \quad x \quad x \quad x]$

Reference of disputes to Labour Court, Industrial Court or Board.

- 51. [(1)]² Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, the Government may, if on a report made by the Labour Officer or otherwise it is satisfied that an industrial dispute exists, and—
 - (a) it is not likely to be settled by other means; or
 - (b) by reason of the continuance of the dispute-
 - (i) a serious outbreak of disorder or breach of the public peace is likely to occur; or
 - (ii) serious or prolonged hardship to a large section of the community is likely to be caused; or
 - (iii) the industry concerned is likely to be seriously affected or the prospects and scope of employment therein curtailed; or
 - (c) it is necessary in the public interest to do so; refer the dispute or any matter appearing to be connected with or relevant to the dispute for arbitration to a Labour Court or the Industrial Court or a Board.:

Provided that-

- (i) no reference under this section shall be made to a Board [without referring the matter to the parties and obtaining consent]3 in writing of one of the parties to the dispute; and
- (ii) no reference shall be made to a Labour Court under this section if the matter in dispute is included in Schedule I or if the dispute is between employees and employees.
- [(2) A copy of the report sent by Conciliator under sub-section (2) of section 43 and forwarded by the Chief Conciliator to the State Government under sub-section (3) of the said section shall also be made available to the Labour Court, or the Industrial Court or the Board, as the case may be, before it proceeds to deal with the reference under sub-section (1).]4

Reference to arbitration by unions.

52. [(1)]5 Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, a Representative Union may refer in the prescribed manner any industrial dispute for arbitration to a Board or the Industrial Court, if it relates to matters in Schedule I or otherwise to a Labour Court:

- 1. Omitted by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.12.
- 2. Renumbered by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.12.
- 3. Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.13 for, "without the consent".
- 4. Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.12.
- 5. Renumbered by S.13 ibid,.

Provided that no such dispute shall be referred-

- (i) after two months from the date of the completion of the proceedings before the Conciliator;
- (ii) where the employer has offered in writing before the Conciliator to submit the dispute to arbitration under this Act and the union has not agreed to do so;
- (iii) unless the dispute is first submitted to the Conciliator and the conciliation proceedings are completed or the Conciliator certifies that the dispute in not capable of being settled by conciliation.
- [(2) A copy of the reference made under sub-section (1) shall also be forwarded to the State Government, the Labour Commissioner and the Conciliator having jurisdiction, as early as possible.]1
- [52-A. Where an industrial dispute concerning any undertaking in an industry or branch thereof has been or is to be referred to a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board under section 51 or section 52, and the State Government is of opinion that the dispute is of such a nature that any other undertaking, group or class of undertakings of similar nature in that industry or any branch there of is likely to be interested in or affected by such dispute, the State Government may—

Power of State Government to include other undertakings in reference.

- (a) in the case of a reference under section 51 at the time of making such reference or at any time thereafter; or
- (b) in the case of a reference under section 52 at any time after such a reference has been made, but before the award is made,

include in that reference such undertakings, group or class of undertakings whether or not at the time of such inclusion any dispute exists or is apprehended in that undertakings group or class of undertakings.]²

53. Nothing in the Arbitration Act, 1940 (X of 1940) shall apply to arbitration under this Chapter.

Bar of application of Arbitration Act of 1940.

54. Subject to the provisions of this Act and the rules framed thereunder in this behalf, an arbitrator, a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board shall follow such proceedure in arbitration proceedings as it may think fit.

Precedure of arbitration proceeding.

55. Where an Industrial Dispute has been referred to any Arbitrator, Labour Court, Industrial Court or a Board, it shall hold its proceedings expeditiously and give its award as soon as practicable.

Arbitraction to be concluded expeditiously.

56. The arbitrator shall, after hearing the parties concerned, make an award which shall be signed by him.

Award by arbitration.

57. Where members of a Board are unable to agree as to their award the matter shall be decided by the Chairman acting as Umpire.

Chairman to decide in case of disagreement.

58. (1) The Arbitrator, Labour Court, Industrial Court or of a Board shall forward copies of the award made by him or it to the parties, the Registrar, the Commissioner of Labour and the State Government.

Awards.

- (2) On receipt of such award, the Registrar shall enter it in the register kept for the purpose and shall inform the parties of the date of registration.
- (3) Every award shall be published in the manner as may be pre scribed.

^{1.} Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.13.

^{2.} Ins. by S.14, ibid.

- (4) The arbitration proceeding shall be deemed to have been completed on the date of the publication of the award under sub-section (3).
- (5) An award published under sub-section (3) shall be final and shall not be called in question by any Court in any manner whatsoever.

Commencement of award.

59. The award shall become enforceable on the date specified therein in this behalf or if no such date is specified on the expiry of three days from the date of its publication under sub-section (3) of section 58.

Award on whom binding;

- 60. An award of an arbitrator, a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board shall be binding on—
 - [(a) all parties to the industrial dispute;]1
 - (b) all parties who were summoned to appear as parties to the dispute whether they appeared or not;
 - (c) in the case of an employer who is a party to the arbitration proceeding his successors in interest, heirs and assigns in respect of the undertaking to which the dispute relates;
 - (d) in the case of a Representative Union, any other union or the Labour Officer who is a party to a dispute, all persons represented by it, [on the date of the award, as well as thereafter]²

CHAPTER X

Powers and Duties of Labour Courts, Industrial Court or Board of Arbitration and Certain Other Matters

Powers of Labour Court.

- 61. (1) In addition to powers conferred under other provisions of this Act, a Labour Court shall have power to—
 - (A) decide-
 - (d) disputes regarding which application has been made to it under sub-section (3) of section 31 of the Act;
 - (b) industrial disputes-
 - (i) referred to it under section 51 or 52;
 - (ii) in respect of which it is appointed as the Arbitrator by a submission;
 - (e) whether a strike, lock-out, stoppage, closure or any change is illegal under this Act;
 - (B) require any employer-
 - (a) to withdraw any change or lock-out which is held by it to be illegal; or
 - (b) to carry out any change provided such change is a matter in issue in any proceeding before it under this Act;
 - (C) require any employee to withdraw a strike which is held by it to be illegal;
 - (D) [try offences punishable under this Act and the Acts specified in Schedule II-A]³ and where the payment of compensation on conviction for an offence is provided for determine the compensation and order its payment.

^{1.} Subs. by M.P. Act 41 of 1981, S.15.

^{2.} Added by M P. Act 34 of 1961, S.14.

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 43 of 1981, S.4(i) (a), for "try offences punishable under this Act".

- (2) For the purposes of deciding a dispute under pargraphs (A) and (B) of sub-section (1) it shall be lawful for the Labour Court to determine questions of fact relevant to the dispute.
- [(3) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974) or any other law for the time being in force, every offence punishable under this Act and the Acts specified in Schedule II-A, shall be tried by the Labour Court within the local limits of whose jurisdiction it was committed.]¹
 - [62. Proceedings before a Labour Court shall be commenced...

(i) in respect of a dispute falling under clause (a) of paragraph (A) of sub-section (1) of section 61 within two years from the date of the dispute:

Provided that-

- (a) if the dispute is connected with the termination of the services of an employee, such proceedings shall commence within a year from the date of termination of the services of the concerned employee;
- (b) nothing contained in the foregoing provision shall apply if the concerned employee had made an approach before the 30th day of July, 1976 in accordance with the provisions contained in subsection (3) of section 31 as it stood before the said date and in that case the provisions contained in sub-section (3) of section 31 and clause (i) of this section shall be applicable as they had been before the said date;
- (c) where on employee has preferred an appeal or representation against an order of termination under any rule, regulation or standing orders to the competent authority within the period prescribed for such appeal or representation or where no such period is prescribed within three months of the order of termination, such proceedings may be commenced within one year from the date of the disposal of the appeal or representation, as the case may be:
- (ii) in respect of matters specified in clause (c) of paragraph (A) of sub-section (1) of section 61, within three months of the commencement of the strike, lock-out, stoppage, closure or of the making of the change on an application made by the employer, the representative of employees, any employee directly affected thereby or by the Labour Officer;

Provided that the Labour Court may, for sufficient reasons, admit any application for a declaration that a change is illegal under the Act, after the expiry of three months from the date on which such change was made.]2

63. No Labour Court shall take cognizance of any offence-

a) punishable under this Act, except on complaint in writing made by the person affected thereby or the representive of employee or the employer or on a report in writing of the Labour officer;

(b) punishable under any of the Acts pecified in Schedule II-A, except in accordance with the provisions of the respective Acts. 13

Commencement of Proceedings.

Cognizance of offence.

^{1.} Subs by M. P. Act 43 of 1981, S.4(i)(b).

^{2.} Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.16.

^{3.} Subs. by M. P. Act 43 of 1981; S.4 (ii).

Power of Labour Court and Industrial Court in respect of criminal cases.

- [64. (1) In respect of offences punishable under this Act or any of the Acts specified in Schedule II-A, a Labour Court shall have all the powers under the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974) of a Judicial Magistrate of the First Class and in the trial of every such offence shall follow the procedure laid down in Chapter XXI of the said Code for summary trial and the rest of such provisions of the Code shall, so far as may be, apply to the trial.
- (2) In respect of offences punishable under this Act or any of the Acts specified in Schedule II-A, the Industrial Court shall have all the powers of the High Court under the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974). 71

Saving of inherent powers of Industrial Court and Labour Court.

[64-A. Nothing in this Act shall be deemed to limit or otherwise affect the inherent powers of the Industrial Court and the Labour Court to make such orders as may be necessary for the ends of justice or to prevent abuse of the process of these Courts.,]2

Appeal.

- [65. (1) Notwithstanding anything contained in the Act, an appeal shall lie to the Industrial Court
 - against a final decision of a Labour Court in respect of a matter falling under clause (a) or clause (c) of paragraph (A) or paragraph (B) or paragraph (C) of subsection (1) of section 61 by the person affected or the representative of employees or the employer;
 - against a conviction by a Labour Court, by the person convicted:
 - against the acquittal by a Labour Court, by the State Government:
 - for enhancement of sentence awarded by a Labour Court, by the State Government:

Provided that no pppeal shall lie against an order of a Labour Court under section 107.

(2) Every appeal shall be made within thirty days from the date of the decision, conviction, acquittal or sentence, as the case may be:

Provided that in computing the period of thirty days the period requisite for obtaining a copy of the order appealed against shall be excluded:

Provided further that the Industrial Court may for sufficient reason, admit any appeal made after the expiry of such period.

(3) Where an appeal is filed by an employer under sub-section (1) against the order of a Labour Court setting aside the termination of service of an employee, the employer shall, in case he has not reinstated the employee in compliance with the order of the Labour Court, pay to the employee subsistance allowance at the rate of seventy five percentum of the average pay of the employee, till the appeal is finally disposed of by the Industrial Court,

Explanation. In this section, the expression average pay shall have the meaning assigned to it in clause (aa) of section 2 of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (XIV of 1947)3

66.

Powers o superintendence of Industrial Court

67. The Industrial Court shall, in respect of all matters subject to its appellate or revisional jurisdiction have superintendence over Labour Courts constituted under this Act and may call for returns in respect thereof.

Subs by M. P. Act 43 of 1981 S.4(iii) Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981 S.17. Subs. by S.18,ibid.

Omitted by S.19, ibid.

68. The Industrial Court shall decide appeals and disputes and other matters referred to it under this Act or the rules made thereunder.

Duties of Industrial Court

69. If in any proceeding it appears to the Industrial Court that any union was recognised as a Representative Union by reason of a mistake, misrepresentation or fraud, or that it has contravened any of the provisions of the Act, the Industrial Court may, after giving such reasonable opportunitity of being heard and after such enquiry as it may deem fit, direct that the recognition of such union shall be cancelled.

Cancellation of recognition of unions.

70. (1) A civil or criminal court may refer any matter or any issue in any suit, criminal prosecution or other proceedings before it relating to an industrial dispute to the Industrial Court for its decision. Any order passed by such Court in such suit, prosecution or proceeding shall be in accordance with such decision.

Reference on point of law or interpretation of Act

- (2) The State Government may refer to the Industrial Court any point of law arising in any proceedings held under this Act. The Industrial Court shall not decide any such reference save in open Court and with the concurence of a majority of the members of the Court present at the hearing of the reference.
- (3) The Commissioner of Labour may refer any question relating to the interpretation of this Act or the rules made under this Act to the Industrial Court for its decision.
- [(4) The Labour Court may refer to the Industrial Court any point of law arising in any proceedings held under this Act for its decisior. An order to be passed by such Court shall be in accordance with the decision of the Industrial Court.
- (5) The Industrial Court may refer to the High Court any point of law arising in any proceedings held under this Act for its decision. An order to be passed by such Court shall be in accordance with the decision of the High Court.]1
- 71. A Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board may, either on its own motion or on the application of any party to a case decided by it, review its order, decision or award in such case and pass such order in reference thereto as it thinks fit:

Review.

provided that-

- (i) no order, decision or award shall be varied or reversed unless totice has been given to the parties to the case to ap ear and be heard in respect of such order, decision or award;
- (ii) no order, decision or award which is the subject of any revision proceeding shall be reviewed;
- (iii) no order or decision in respect of an offence under this Act shall be reviewed;
- (iv) no application for the review of any order, decision or award shall be entertained, unless it is made within thirty days from the date of such order, decision or award;
- (v) no order, decision or award shall be reviewed except on the grounds provided for in order XLVII of the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (V of 1908).
- 72. Subject to the provisions of section 64 and the rules framed under Procedure before a Labour Court, this Act, a Labour Court, the Ir dustrial Court, or a Board shall, in proceedings the Industrial Court, or a Board. before it, follow such procedure as it may think fit.

(1) For the purpose of holding an enquiry or proceeding under this Act, the Registrar, a Labour Court, the Industrial Court, a Board

Powers of authority to summon witnesses, et

and a Court of Enquiry shall have the same powers as are vested in Civil Courts under the Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (V of 1908), in respect of—

- (a) proof of facts by affidavits;
- (b) summoning and enforcing the attendance of any person and examining him on oath;
- (c) compelling the production of documents;
- (d) issuing commissions for the examination of witnesses; and
- (e) such other matters as may be prescribed.
- (2) For the purpose of obtaining the information necessary for compelling and maintaining the record under Chapter XV, the officer authorised under section 95 shall have the power specified in clauses (b) and (c) of sub-section (1).

Appearance of officers of Government in any proceeding.

74. The State Government may direct any officer to appear in any proceeding before a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board by giving notice to such Court or Board and on such notice being given such officer shall be entitled to appear in such proceeding.

Costs.

75. A Labour Court and the Industrial Court shall have the power to direct by whom the whole or any part of costs of any proceeding before it shall be paid.

Proceedings before a Labour Court etc., to be judicial proceeding. 76. Every proceeding before a Labour Court, the Industrial Court and a Board shall be deemed to be a judicial proceeding within the meaning of sections 192, 193 and 228 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860 (XLV of 1860).

Parties on whom orders of Board, etc., binding

- 77. An [order or decision] of a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board shall be binding on—
 - (a) all parties to the industrial dispute who appeared or were represented before it;
 - (b) all parties who were summoned to appear as parties to the dispute whether they appeared or not, unless the Labour Court or the Industrial Court or the Board, as the case may be, is of the opinion that they were improperly made parties;
 - (t) in the case of an employer who is a party to the proceeding before such Court or Board in respect of the undertaking to which the dispute relates, his successors, heirs or assigns in respect of such undertaking; and
 - (d) in the case of a representative of employees, which is a party to the proceeding before such Court or Board, all persons represented by it on the date of the [order or decision]! as well as thereafter.

Finality of decisions.

78. No order, decision [or award of an arbitrator, a Labour Court]2, the Industrial Court or a Board shall be called in question in any civil or riminal court.

Execution of award, etc., by
Labour Court or the Industrial
Court.

- [78-A. (1) Every award or determination or decision of a Labour Court or the Industrial Court shall be executed by the authority which rede it, in such manner as may be prescribed.
- (2) Every award of an Arbitrator other than a Labour Court or the Industrial Court or an agreement arrived at under section 33 or a settlement arrived at under section 43 shall be executed by the Labour Court in the same manner as if it were an award made by such Labour Court.

Time limit for disposal of cases by Labour Courts, etc. 78-B. (1) The Labour Court or the Industrial Court shall pronounce its award or decision ordinarily within a period of one hundered and eighty days from the date on which the application is made or the dispute is referred to it.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.15, for "order, decision or award."

^{2.} Subs. by S.16, ibid, for "or award of a labour court."

- (2) The Industrial Court shall pronounce its decision in an appeal ordinarily within a period of ninety days from the date on which appeal is made to it.
 - (3) Where the Labour Court or the Industrial Court is unable to make its award or pronounce its decision within the period specified in subsection (1) or sub-section (2), as the case may be, it shall record the reason therefor.]1

CHAPTER XI

Court of Enquiry

- 79. (1) The State Government may constitute one or more Courts of Enquiry consisting of such number of persons as the State Government may think fit.
- Courts of Enquiry Construction powers and duties of.
- (2) The Court of Enquiry shall enquire into the causes and [circumstances of such Industrial matters or disputes or matters related to terms of employment, as may be referred to it, by the State Government including any matter pertaining to conditions or work or relations between employers and employees in any industry or issues in dispute between them.
- (3) Every proceeding before a Court of Enquiry shall be deemed to be a judicial proceeding within the meaning of sections 192, 193 and 228 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860 (XLV of 1860).
- (4) Any report of a Court of Enquiry including the minutes of dissent, if any, recorded by a minority shall be laid, as soon as may be possible, before the Legislative Assembly of the State.

CHAPTER XII

Illegal Strikes and Lock-Outs

- 80. A lock-out or strike shall illegal if it is commenced or continued___
 - in cases where it relates to an industrial matter specified in Schedule II or regulated by any standing order for the time being in force;
 - (b) without giving notice in accordance with the provisions of section 31;
 - [(c) in cases where notice of change is given in accordance with the provisions of section 31 and where no agreement in regard to such change is arrived before, commencement of conciliation proceedings;
 - (d) in cases where conciliation proceedings in regard to the industial dispute to which the strike or lockout relates have commenced, before the completion of such proceedings and during a period of fifteen days thereafter;]2
 - (c) in cases where a conciliation proceeding in regard to any industrial dispute to which a strike or lock-out relates has been completed at any time after the expiry of two months after the completion of such proceedings;
 - in cases where a submission relating to such dispute or such type of dispute is registered under section 49, before such submission is lawfully revoked;
 - in cases where an industrial dispute has been referred to arbitration of [an arbitrator]3 a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board before the date on which the arbitration proceedings are completed or the date on which award comes into operation whichever is later;

Illegal strikes and lock-outs.

Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.21.

Subs ibid. S.22. 3. Ins. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S. 17

(h) in contravention of the terms of a registered agreement or a settlement or an effective award,

Closure or stopage of work in certain circumstances illegal.

- 81. A closure or stoppage shall be illegal, if it is commenced or continued.
 - (a) with the object of compelling the Central or State Government or any public servant to take or abstain from taking any paneular course of action in regard to an industrial matter, where the Central or State Government is not an employer in the industry concerned; or
 - (b) if such closure or stoppage is in support of or in sympathy with a lock-out or a strike which is illegal under this Act or the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947(XIV of 1947) or any other law for the time being in force, whether or not in the same industry or undertaking.

Reference to Industrial court for declaration whether strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage is illegal.

- 82. (1) The State Government may make a reference to a Labour Court or the Industrial Court for a declaration whether any proposed strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage will be illegal.
- (2) No declaration shall be made under this section save in open
- (3) The declaration made under sub-section (1) shall be recognised as binding and shall be followed in all proceedings under this Act.

CHAPTER XIII

Protection of Employees

Employer not to dismiss, reduce or punish an employee.

- 83. (1) No employer shall dismiss, dischagre or reduce any employee or punish him in any other manner by reason of the circumstance that the employee—
 - (a) is an officer or member of a Representative Union or a Union which has applied for being recognised as Representative Union under this Act; or
 - (b) is entitled to the benefit of a registered agreement or a settlement, submission or award; or
 - (c) has appeared or intends to appear as a witness in, or has given evidence or intends to give evidence in, any proceeding under this Act or any other law for the time being in force or takes part in any capacity or in connection with a proceeding under this Act; or
 - (d) is an officer or a member of an organisation the object of which is to secure industrial conditions; or
 - (e) is an officer or member of an organisation, which is not declared unlawful; or
 - (f) has taken part in any trade union activity which has not been held to be illegal; or
 - (g) has gone on or joined a strike which has not been held by a Labour Court or the Industrial Court to be illegal under the provisions of this Act.
- (2) No employer shall prevent any employee from returning to work after a strike arising out of an industrial dispute which has not been held by a Labour Court or the Industrial Court to be illegal unless—
 - (i) the employer has offered to refer the issues on which the employee has struck work to aribtration under this Act and the employee has refused arbitration; or

(ii) the employee, not having refused arbitration, has failed to offer to resume work within one month of declaration by the State Government that strike has ended.

84.[(1) If, after giving the employer a reasonable opportunity of being heard and after making such enquiry as may be deemed fit, it prima facie appears to the Labour Court trying an offence under section 86 that the services of the employee had been terminated in contravention of sub-section (1) of section 83, or in an industrial dispute relating to the discharge or dimissal of an employee referred to it for decision, arbitration or adjudication, the court is prima facie satisfied that the discharge or dimissal was not justified, the court may direct the employer at his option to reinstate the employee or pay to him till the final disposal of the case subsistence allowance which shall not be less than half the average pay of the employee with effect from the date as the court may determine:

Protection to employees in certain cases.

Provided that if the employer opts to pay to the employee subsistence allowance, the amount of such allowance may be adjusted by the employer towards the wages, if any, payable to the employee in respect of the period for which the subsistence allowance has been paid.]1

(2) If any case in which an order for reinstatement or for payment of subsistence allowance has been made under sub-section (1) ends in the conviction of the employer and the employer files an appeal against the order of his conviction, he shall be liable to continue the employment of the employee or to pay him subsistence allowance, as the case may be, until the appeal is finally disposed of unless the appellate court otherwise directs:

Provided that where no order under sub-section (1) has been passed by the trial Court, the appellate Court shall be competent to make an order under sub-section (1) with effect from a date earlier than sixty days after the commencement of proceeding before the trial Court to the same extent and in the same manner as a Labour Court.

- (3) If at any time after an order for grant of subsistence allowance under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) has been made, the Court making the order, on an application made by the employer or otherwise, after giving the employee an opportunity of being heard, finds that
 - (i) the employee is responsible for avoidable delay in the disposal of the case; or
 - (ii) it is not desirable or proper to continue the subsistence allowance for any other sufficient cause;

the Court may vacate or modify the order with effect from a specified date.

Explanation.— In this section, the expression "average pay" shall have the meaning assigned to it in clause (aa) of section.

(2) of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (XIV of 1947).

85. If the Court trying an offence under section 83, finds that the employee has been dismissed, discharged or reduced in contravention of the provisions of section 83, it may direct that the employee shall be reinstated forthwith or by such date as may be specified in the order.

Power of court to order reinstatement, etc.

CHAPTER XIV

PENALTIES

86. (1) Whoever contravenes the provisions of sub-section (1) or (2) of section 83 shall, on conviction, be punishable with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees.

Penalty for wrongful dismissal's etc., of an employee.

(2) The Court trying an offence under this section may direct that, out of the fine recovered, such amount as it deems fit shall be paid to the employee concerned as compensation.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.23.

(3) In any prosecution under this section the burdem of proving that the dismissal, dicharge, reduction or punishment of an employee by an employer was not in contravention of the provisions of this section shall lie on the employer.

Penalty for declaring illegal lock-out or illegal closure.

87. Any employer, who has commenced a lock-out or a closure which a Labour Court or the Industrial Court has declared to be illegal, shall, on conviction, be punishable with fine which may extend to two thousand five hundred rupees and, in the case of the lock-out or the closure, as the case may be, being continued after the lapse of forty-eight hours after it has been held or declared to be illegal, with an additional fine which may extend to five thousand rupees for every day during which such lock-out or closure continues after such conviction.

Penalty for declaring or commencing illegal strike or illegal stoppage. 88. Any employee who has gone on strike or stoppage or who joins a strike or a stoppage which a Labour Court or the Industrial Court has declared to be illegal, shall, on conviction, be punishable with fine, which may extend to ten rupees and in the case of his continuing on strike or on stoppage, as the case may be, after the lapse of forty-eight hours after it is declared to be illegal, with an additional fine which may extend to one rupee per day for every day during which such strike or stoppage continues after such conviction subject to a maximum of fifty rupees.

Penalty for instigating etc., illegal strikes, lock-outs, elosure or stoppage.

89. (1) Any person who instigates or incites others to take part in or otherwise acts in furtherance of a lock-out or a closure for which an employer is punishable under section 87 or a strike or a stoppage for which any employee is punishable under section 88 shall, on conviction, be punishable with imprisonment of either decscription for a term which may extend to three months, or with fine or with both:

Provided that no person shall be punished under this section, where the Court trying the offence is of opinion that in the circumstances of the case a reasonable doubt existed at the time of the commission of the offence about the legality of the strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage, as the case may be.

- Explanation I.—For the purposes of this section, a person who contributes, collects, disburses or solicits funds for the purposes of any such strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage shall be deemed to act in furtherance thereof.
- Explanation II.—A person shall be deemed to have committed an offence under this section if, before an illegal strike, lock-out, closure or stoppage has commenced, he has instigated or incited others to take part in or otherwise acted in furtherance of such strike, closure, lock-out or stoppage.
 - (2) The offence under sub-section (1) shall be cognizable.

Penalty for disclosing confiden-

90. If a Conciliator or a Labour Officer or any person present at or concerned in any conciliation proceeding wilfully discloses any infromation or the contents of any document in contravention of the provisions of this Act, he shall, on conviction, on a complaint made by the party who gave the information or produced the document in such proceeding be punishable with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees.

Penalty for illegal change.

- 91. (1) Any employer who makes an illegal change shall, on conviction, be punishable with fine which may extend to five thousand rupees.
- (2) Any employer who contravenes the provisions of section 35 shall, on conviction, be punishable with imprisoment which may extend to three months or for every day on which the contravention continues with fine which may extend to five thousand rupee or with both.
- (3) The Court convicting any person under sub-section (1) or (2) may direct such person to pay such compensation as it may determine to any employee directly and adversely affected by the change in issue.

92. Any person, who wiltully refuses entry to a Labour officer to any place which he is entitled to enter or fails to produce any document which he is required to produce or fails to comply with any requisition or order issued to him by or under the provisions of this Act or the rules made thereunder, shall, on conviction, be punishable with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees.

Penalty for obstructing persons from carrying out duties.

93. Whoever contravenes [any of the provisions of this Act or of any rule made thereunder or of any order in writing given thereunder] shall, on conviction if no other penalty is elsewhere provided by or under this Act for such contravention, be punishable with fine which may extend to one hundred rupees and in the event of such person having been previously convicted of an offence under this Act or any rule made thereunder with fine which may extend to two hundred rupees.

Penalties for offences not provided for elsewhere.

Record of industrial matters.

CHAPTER XV

Record of Industrial Conditions

- 94. The State Government may in respect of any industry-
 - (a) maintain in the prescribed manner a record of industrial matters covered by the Schedules and standing orders;
 - (b) require any employer or employers generally to maintain and submit copies of a record in such form as may be prescribed, of—
 - (i) data relating to plant, premises and manufacture,
 - (ii) other industrial transactions and dealings, which, in the opinion of the State Government, are likely to affect the matters specified in clause (a).
- 95. (1) For the purposes of verifying the accuracy of any records maintained by an employer under the provisions of section 94, an officer authorised by the State Government may, subject to the prescribed conditions, hold an inquiry and may require any person to, and such person thereupon shall, produce any relevant record or document in his possession and may after reasonable notice at any reasonable time enter any premises where-in he believes such record or document to be and may ask any question necessary for verifying such records:

Inquiry for verification of records.

Provided that where such premises are not the usual business premises of a person, such officer shall not without the previous permission of the State Government enter them under this sub-section.

(2) Any proceeding held by him for the purpose of obtaining information for such record shall be deemed to be a judicial proceeding within the meaning of section 192 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860 (XLV of 1860).

CHAPTER XVI

Miscellaneous

96. The State Government may, by notification, at any time, make any additions to or alterations in the industrial matters specified in Schedule I or II or delete therefrom any such matter:

Amendment of Schedules.

Provided that before making any such addition, alteration or deletion a draft of such addition, alteration or deletion, shall be published in the Gazette for the information of all persons likely to be affected thereby and the State Government, shall consider any objection or suggestion that may be received by it from any person with respect thereto within six weeks of such publication.

^{1.} Subs. by M. P. Act 34 of 1961, S.18, for "any of the provisions of this Act or any rule made thereunder."

Power to transfer proceedings.

- [96-A. (1) The Industrial Court may, for reasons to be recorded in writing, transfer any proceedings under the Act, pending before a Labour Court for trial or disposal to another Labour Court competent to try or dispose of the same.
- (2) The Labour Court to which the proceedings is transferred under sub-section (1) may, subject to specific directions in the order of transfer, proceed de novo or from the stage at which it is transferred.

Delegation of powers.

96-B. The State Government may, by notification, direct that any power exercisable by it under this Act or the rules made thereunder, except the power to make rules shall, in relation to such matter and subject to such conditions, if any, as may be specified in the direction, be exercisable by such officer or authority subordinate to the State Government as may be specified in the notification.]

Agreements, etc. on whom binding.

97. (1) A registered agreement or a settlement or a submission shall be binding upon all persons who are parties thereto:

Provided that-

- (a) in the case of an employer, who is a party to such an agreement, settlement or submission, his successors in interest, heirs or assigns in respect of the undertaking as regards which the agreement, settlement or submission is made, and
- (b) in the case of any representative of employees which is a party to such agreement, settlement or submission all employees in the industry in the local area represented by it or him, shall be bound by such an agreement, settlement or submission.
- (2) In cases in which a Representative Union is a party to a registered agreement or a settlement or submission the State Government may, after giving the parties affected an opportunity of being heard, by notification, direct that such agreement, settlement or submission shall be binding upon such other employers and employees in such industry in that local area as may be specified in the notification:

Provided that before giving a direction under this section, the State Government may, in such cases as it deems fit, make a reference to the Industrial Court for its opinion.

(3) A registered agreement entered into by the representatives of the majority of the employees affected or deemed to be affected under section 32 by a change shall bind all the employees so affected or deemed to be affected.

Order, decision or award to be in terms of agreement between employer and Representative Union. 98. If any agreement is arrived at between an employer and a Representative Union who are parties to any industrial dispute pending before an arbitrator, a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or a Board, the order, decision or award in such proceeding shall be made in terms of such agreement, unless the arbitrator, Labour Court, Industrial Court or the Board is satisfied that the agreement was in contravention of any of the provisions of this Act or the consent of either party to it was caused by mistake, misrepresentation, fraud, undue influence, coercion or threat.

Agreements, etc., when to cease to have effect.

99. (1) A registered agreement or a settlement or award shall cease to have effect on the date specified therein or if no such date is specified therein, on the expiry of the period of two months from the date on which notice in writing to terminate such agreement, settlement or award, as the case may be, is given in the prescribed manner by any of the parties thereto to the other parties:

Provided that no such notice shall be given till the expiry of [six]² months after the agreement, settlement or award comes into operation.

- 1. Ins. by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.24.
- 2. Subs. by \$.25(a), ibid for "three".

- (2) Nothing in this section shall prevent the terms of a registered agreement or a settlement or an award in terms of an agreement being changed or modified by mutual consent of the parties affected thereby and the registered agreement, settlement or award shall be deemed to be changed or modified accordingly.
 - [(3)]
- (4) The party giving notice under sub-section (1) shall send a copy of it to the Registerar and the Labour Officer of the local area concerned.
- (5) If a registered agreement or a settlement or an award is terminated x x]2 or if the terms of a registered agreeunder sub-section (1) [x ment or a settlement or an award are changed or modified by mutual consent, notice of such termination, change or modification shall be given by the parties concerned to the Registrar and the Labour Officer. The Registrar shall enter the notice of such termination, change or modification in a register kept for the purpose.

Explanation. For the purposes of this section, parties who shall be competent to terminate a registered agreement or a settlement or an award or to change or to modify the terms of a registered agreement or a settlement or an award and who shall give notice of such termination, change or modifification under sub-section (5) shall be the employer, who has signed the agreement or settlement or who is a party to the award or the heirs, successors or assigns of such employer in respect of the undertaking concerned and the representative of the employees affected by the agreement, settlement or award.

100. (1) Any party who under the provisions of section 99 is entitled Modification of award. to give notice of the termination of an award may, instead of giving such notice, apply, after the expiry of the period specified in sub-section (2), to a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or the Board making the award for its modifification.

- (2) Such application in the case of an award-
 - (a) which does not specify a date on which it shall cease to have effect shall not be made until the expiry of the period of two months from the date on which notice can be given to terminate the award under section 99;
- (b)
- [(3) On such application being made, the Labour Court, the Industrial Court or the Board, as the case may be, after hearing the parties and taking such evidence as it thinks fit, may modify the award with effect from such date not earlier than the date of application under sub-section (1), as it may specify.]4
- (4) Where an application for the modification of an award under sub-section (1) is made, such application shall not in any way affect the binding effect of such award in regard to the matters determined therein until it is modified.
- (5) Nothing in this section shall affect the right of any party to terminate such award in accordance with the provisions of section 99.
- 101. Subject to the rules framed under this Act, the Registrer shall grant copies of all agreements, settlements and awards registered by him and such other documents as may be prescribed on payment of the prescribed fee.

Grant of copies of agreements,

^{1.} Omitted by M. P. Act 41 of 1981, S.25 (b).

^{2.} Words "or sub-section (3)" omitted by S.25(c), ibid.

^{3.} Omitted by S.26(a) ibid.

^{4.} Subs. by S.26(b), ibid.

Liability of the executive of a Union.

102. Where anything is required to be done by any union under this Act, the person authorised in this behalf by the executive of the union, and where no person is so authorised, every member of the executive of the union shall be bound to do the same and shall be personally liable if default is made in the doing of any such thing.

Explanation.—For the purposes of this section, the executive of a union means the body by whatever name called to which the management of the affairs of the union is entrusted.

Certain Officers to be public servants.

103. The Registrar, an Assistant Registrar, a Conciliator, a Labour Officer, a Deputy Labour Officer, an Arbitrator, an Officer authorised under section 95, a Presiding Officer of a Labour Court, a member of the Industrial Court, the Board or a Court of Enquiry, and a member of the staff of any of the said Courts shall be deemed to be public servants within the meaning of section 21 of the Indian Penal Code, 1860 (XLV of 1860).

Contempt of Board, Industrial Court, and Labour Court relating to omission to produce documents, etc.

104. (1) If any person—

- (a) when ordered by a Board, the Industrial Court or a Labour Court to produce or deliver up any document or to furnish any information being legally bound intentionally omits to do so, or
- (b) when required by a Board, the Industrial Court of a Labour Court to bind himself by an oath or affirmation to state the truth refuses to do so; or
- (c) being legally bound to state the truth on any subject to a Board or the Industrial Court or a Labour Court refuses to answer any question demanded of him touching such subject by such Court or Board; or
- (d) intentionally offers any insult or causes interruption to a Board, the Industrial Court or a Labour Court, at any stage of its judicial proceeding;

he shall, on conviction, be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to six months or with fine which may extend to one thousand rupees or with both.

- (2) If any person refuses to sign any statement made by him, when required to do so by a Board, the Industrial Court or a Labour Court, he shall, on conviction, be punishable with imprisonment for a term which may extend to three months or with fine which may extend to five hundred rupees or with both.
- [(3) If any offence under sub-section (1) or sub-section (2) is committed in view or presence of the Industrial Court or a Labour Court, the Industrial Court or Labour Court, as the case may be, shall proceed to try the same as if such Court were a Civil Court for purposes of sub-section (1) of section 345, 346 and section 348 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974).]1

Other kinds of contempts of Board, Industrial Court and Labour Court.

- 105. (1) If any person commits any act or publishes any writing which is calculated to improperly influence a Board, the Industrial Court or a Labour Court or to bring such Court, Board or a member or a presiding officer thereof into disrepute or contempt or to lower its or his authority or to interfere with the lawful process of any such Court or Board, such person shall be deemed to be guilty of contempt of such Court or Board, as the case may be.
- (2) In the case of contempt of itself, the Board or the Industrial Court shall record the facts constituting such contempt and make a report in that behalf to the High Court.

- (3) In the case of contempt of it, a Labour Court shall record the facts constituting such contempt and make a report in that behalf to the Industrial Court, and thereupon, the Industrial Court may, if it considers it expedient to do so, forward the report to the High Court.
- (4) When any intimation or report in respect of any contempt is received by the High Court under sub-section (2) or sub-section (3) the High Court shall deal with such contempt as if it were contempt of a court subordinate to it and shall have and exercise in respect of it the same jurisdiction, powers and authority in accordance with the same procedure and practice as it has and exercise in respect of such contempt.
- 106. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Act, a Board, the Industrial Court, or a Labour Court, as the case may be, shall have the power to decide all matters arising out of the industrial matter or dispute referred to it for decision under any of the provisions of this Act.

107. In any proceeding before it under this Act, a Board, the Indust-Court or a Labour Court may pass such interim orders including a prohibitory order or a stay order as it may consider just and proper.

[107-A. Where industrial dispute relating to the discharge or missal of an employee has been referred to a Labour Court or the Industrial Court for decision under any of the provisions of this Act and in the course of the proceedings the Labour Court or the Industrial Court, as the case may be, is satisfied that the order of discharge or dismissal was not justified, it may, setaside the order of discharge or dismissal and direct reinstatement of the employee on such terms and conditions, if any, as it thinks fit or give such other relief to the employee including the award of any lesser punishment in lieu of discharge or dismissal as the circumstances of the case may require:

Provided that in any proceeding under this section the Labour Court or the Industrial Court, as the case may be, shall, rely only on the materials on record and shall not take any fresh evidence in relation to the matter.]1

[108. The amount of any fine imposed, any costs or back wages awar- Recevery of amount due under ded or any compensation or subsistence allowance directed to be paid by any court under the Act shall be recoverable by the Labour Court in the manner provided for recovery of fines under the Code of Criminal Procedure, 1973 (No. 2 of 1974), as if it were a Criminal Court.]2

109. No suit, prosecution or other legal proceeding shall lie against Protection of action taken any person for anything which is in good faith done or purported to be done under this Act.

[110. Except Chapter V-A and V-B and the other provisions with respect to lay-off and retrenchment compensation, nothing in the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (No. XIV of 1947) shall apply to any industry to which this Act is applied:

Provided that ___

(a) any settlement arrived at or award made under the provisions of the Industrial Disputes Act, 1947 (No. XIV of 1947) (hereinafter in this section referred to as the Central Act) in respect of any industry to which before the date of application of this Act. the Central Act was applicable, shall be deemed to hav arrived at or made under the provisions of this Act, unless and until superseded by any settlement or award arrived at or made under this Act;

Power of Industrial Court, etc., to decide all matters.

Power of a Board, Indusrial Court, etc., to pass interim orders.

Power of Labour Court and Industrial Court to give appropriate relief in case of discharge or dismissal of empl yee.

under the Act.

Saving of certain provisions of the Industrial Disputes Act.

^{1.} Ins. By M. P. Act 43 of 1981, S. 4(iv).

^{2.} Subs. by M.P. Act 41 of 1981. S. 28.

(b) any proceedings pending on the date of application of this Act to an industry to which before such date the Central Act was applicable, shall be disposed of in accordance with the provisions of the Central Act.]1

Rules.

- 111. (1) The State Government may, by notification, make rules to carry out the purposes of this Act.
- (2) In particular and without prejudice to the generality of the foreoing provisions, such rules may be made for all or any of the following natters, namely:—
 - (a) the authority to be prescribed under sub-clause (c) of clause (14) of section 2;
 - [(a-i) the manner in which decision shall be given by a person specified under clause (i) of sub-section (7) of section 9 and fee, if any, payable to such person;]2
 - (b) (i) the manner in which the panels of members representing the interest of employers and employees shall be prepared under sub-section (2) of section 11;
 - (ii) the authority to be prescribed and the time within which a panel shall be submitted under sub-section (3) of section 11;
 - (iii) the manner in which the vacancies in the Board shall be filled under sub-section (5) of section 11;
 - (c) (i) the form of application under section 13;
 - (ii) the fee to be paid and the form of certificate of recognition to be issued under section 13;
 - (iii) the manner in which enquiry shall be held under sub-section (2) of section 13;
 - (d) the form in which the register of unions shall be maintained under section 15;
 - (e) the manner of holding enquiry under clause (b) of section 16;
 - (f) the fee to be paid under sub-section (1) and the manner of holding enquiry under sub-section (3) of section 17;
 - (g) the fee to be paid under section 18;
 - (h) the dates on which and the manner in which returns shall be submitted under section 21;
 - (i) the authority to be prescribed under clause (b) of sub-section (1) and the manner of determining the representative of employers under sub-section (2) of section 25;
 - (j) the form and the manner of giving notice under sub-sections (1) and (2), the person to whom the notice shall be given under sub-section (2), the manner of making an application under sub-section (3) and the manner of approach and the period to be prescribed under proviso to section 31;
 - (k) the manner in which the Joint Committee shall be constituted under section 36;
 - (1) the manner in which the Joint Committee shall function under section 38;

^{1.} Subs. by M.P. Act 46 of 1976, S. 5. 100 Strate S

^{2.} Ins. by M. P. Act 4 of 1983, S. 7.

- the form and the manner in which the statement shall be for-(m) warded under section 39;
- the form in which the memorandum of settlement shall be drawn under sub-section (1) of section 43;

[(nn)other matters to be prescribed under clause (d) of sub-section (5) of section 44;]1

- (o) the manner in which an insdustrial dispute shall be referred for arbitration under section 52;
- the prescription of procedure under section 72 to be followed by a Labour Court, the Industrial Court and a Board;
- other matters to be prescribed under sub-section (1) of section 73;
- [(qq) the manner in which any award, determination or decision of a Labour Court or the Industrial Court under section 78-A shall be executed;]2
- (r) the manner in which the record shall be maintained under section
- (s) the conditions to be prescribed under sub-section (1) of section 95.;
- (t) the manner of giving notice under section 99;
- (u) prescription of other documents and the fees on payment of which copies shall be granted under section 101;
- (v) any other matter which is required to be or may be prescribed.
- (3) The rules made under this section shall be subject to the condition of previous publication in the Gazette.

112. The Central Provinces and Berar Industrial Disputes Settlement Repeal and Savings. Act, 1947 (XXIII of 1947) and the Madhya Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (31 of 1949) are hereby repealed:

Provided that—

- (a) every appointment, order, rule, notification or notice made, issued or given under the provisions of the Acts so repealed in so far as it is not inconsistent with the provisions of this Act, be deemed to have been made or issued under the provisions of this Act, unless and until superseded by any appointment, order, rule, notification or notice made, issued or given under this Act;
 - (b) any right, privilege, obligation or liability acquired, accrued or incurred under the Act so repealed shall not be affected and any investigation, legal proceeding or remedy in respect of any such right, privilege, obligation or liability shall so far as it is not inconsistent with the provisions of this Act, be made, instituted, continued or enforced as if the said Acts had not been repealed and continue in operation;
 - [(c) any proceedings pending under the provisions of the Acts so repealed or any proceedings maintainable under the said Acts in pursuance of the provisions of clause (b) before a court or authority specified in column (1) of Schedule III shall, as the case may be, stand transferred to or, be instituted in or before, the court or authority specified in the corresponding entry in

^{1.} Ins. by M.P. Act 41 of 1981, S. 29 (i), 100 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18 18

Ins. by S. 29 (ii), ibid.

- column (2) thereof, and shall thereupon be disposed of or proceeded with as if the said Acts had not been repealed and any penalty imposed in such proceedings shall be recovered under the Acts so repealed;]]
- (d) any agreement or settlement recorded or registered, submission registered, awards made or orders passed by the State Industrial Court, the Industrial Court, a District Industrial Court or a Labour Court, under the provisions of the Acts so repealed shall be deemed to have been registered, recorded, made or passed by the appropriate authority under the corresponding provisions of this Act;
- (e) any union registered for any local area as the Recognised Union or the Representative Union for any industry under the Acts so re-pealed shall be deemed to be recognised as the Representative Union for the Industry and the local area concerned under section 13 of this Act.

SCHEDULE I (Section 31)

- 1. Reduction intended to be of permanent or semi-permanent character in the number of persons employed or to be employed in any process or department or departments or in a shift not due to force majeure.
- 2. Permanent or semi-permanent increase in the number of persons employed or to be employed in any process or department or departments.
- 3. Dismissal of any employee except as provided for in the standing orders applicable to the undertaking.
- 4. Rationalisation or other efficiency systems of work whether by way of experiment or otherwise.
- 5. All matters pertaining to shift working which are not covered by the standing orders applicable to the undertaking.
- 6. Withdrawal or grant of recognition to unions of employees.
- 7. Withdrawal of any customary concession or privilege or change in usage.
- 8. Introduction of new rules of discipline or alteration of existing rules and their interpretation except in so far as they are provided for in the standing orders applicable to the undertaking.
- 9. Wages including the perion and mode of payment.
- 10. Hours of work and rest intervals.
- 11. All matters pertaining to leave and holidays, other than those covered by standing orders.

SCHEDULE II (Section 31)

- [1. The propriety or legality of an order passed or action taken by an employer acting or purporting to act under the standing orders or any rules or regulations governing the conditions of service of the employees.]2
- 2. Adequacy and quality of materials and equipment supplied to the
- Health, safety and welfare of employees (including water, dining sheds, rest sheds, latrines, urinals, creches, restaurants and such other amenities).
- 1. Subs. by M.P. Act 34 of 1961, S. 20.
- 2. Subs. by M.P. Act 41 of 1981, S. 30.

- 4. Matters relating to trade union organisation, membership and levies.
- 5. Construction and interpretation of awards, agreements and settlements.
- 6. Employment including-
 - (i) reinstatement and recruitment;
 - (ii) unemployment of persons previously employed in the industry concerned.
- 7. Payment of compensation for closure, lay-off and retrenchment.
- 8. Assignment of work and transfer of employees within the undertaking.

SCHEDULE II-A

(See sections 61, 63 and 64)

CENTRAL ACTS

- 1. The Trade Unions Act, 1926 (16 of 1926).
- 2. The Payment of Wages Act, 1936 (4 of 1936).
- 3. The Factories Act, 1948 (63 of 1948).
- 4. The Minimum Wages Act, 1948 (11 of 1948).
- 5. The Employees' State Insurance Act, 1948 (34 of 1948).
- 6. The Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 (19 of 1952).
- 7. The Working Journalists and other Newspaper Employees' (Conditions of Service) and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1955 (45 of 1955).
- 8. The Motor Transport Workers Act, 1961 (27 of 1961).
- 9. The Maternity Benefits Act, 1961 (53 of 1961).
- 10. The Payment of Bonus Act, 1965 (21 of 1965).
- 11. The Beedi and Cigar Workers (Conditions of Employment) Act, 1966 (32 of 1966).
- 12. The Contract Labour (Regulation and Abolition) Act, 1970 (37 of 1970).
- 13. The Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972 (39 of 1972).
- 14. The Sales Promotion Employees (Conditions of Service) Act, 1976 (11 of 1976).
- 15. The Equal Remuneration Act, 1976 (25 of 1976).
- . 16. The Inter State Migrant Workmen (Regulation of Employment and Conditions of Service) Act, 1979 (No. 30 of 1979)]1

^{1.} Ins. by M.P. Act 43 of 1981, S. 4. (v).

I[SCHEDULE III

(See clause (c) of the proviso of section 112)

1

2

- State Industrial Court Constituted under the Industrial C.P. and Berar Industrial Disputes Settlement stituted under section 9. Act, 1947 (No. XXIII of 1947).
- Industrial Court constituted under the Bombay Industrial Relations Act, 1946 (Bombay Act No. XI of 1947), as adapted by the Madhya Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (No. 31 of 1949).

Industrial Court constituted under section 9.

3. District Industrial Court constituted under the C.P. and Berar Industrial Disputes Settlement Act, 1947 (No. XXIII of 1947).

Labour Court constituted under section 8 having local jurisdiction.

Labour Court constituted under the Bombay Labour Court Industrial Relations Act, 1946 (Bombay Act tuted under section 8 No. XI of 1947), as adapted by the Madhya- having local jurisdiction. Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (No. 31 of 1949).

Conciliator appointed under the C.P. and Conciliator Berar Industrial Disputes Settlement Act, under section 4 having 1947 (No. XXIII of 1947) or the Bombay jurisdiction.] Industrial Relations Act, 1946 (Bombay Act No. XI of 1947), as adapted by the Madhya Bharat Industrial Relations (Adaptation) Act, Samvat 2006 (No. 31 of 1949).

[6. Labour Commissioner, or other persons invest- Labour Court constituted ed with the powers under section 16 of the under section 8 having Central Provinces and Berar Industrial Dis- local jurisdiction.] putes (Settlement) Act, 1947 (No. XXIII of 1947).

^{1.} Added by M.P. Act 34 of 1961, S. 21.

^{2.} Added by M. P. Act 4 of 1963, S. 8.